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Management’s Report 

To the Shareholders of TransAlta Renewables Inc. 
The consolidated financial statements and other financial information included in this annual report have been prepared by 
management. It is management’s responsibility to ensure that sound judgment, appropriate accounting principles and 
methods, and reasonable estimates have been used to prepare this information. They also ensure that all information 
presented is consistent.  

Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining internal controls and procedures over the financial reporting 
process. The internal control system includes an internal audit function and an established business conduct policy. TransAlta 
Corporation provides general administrative services to TransAlta Renewables Inc. under a Management, Administrative and 
Operational Services Agreement. Employees of TransAlta Corporation providing such services are required to adhere to 
TransAlta Corporation’s business conduct policy. In addition, TransAlta Renewables Inc. has a code of conduct that can be 
viewed on TransAlta Renewables Inc.’s website (www.transaltarenewables.com). Management believes the system of internal 
controls, review procedures, and established policies provide reasonable assurance as to the reliability and relevance of 
financial reports. Management also believes that TransAlta Renewables Inc.’s operations are conducted in conformity with the 
law and with a high standard of business conduct.  

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial 
reporting and internal control. The Board carries out its responsibilities principally through its Audit Committee (the 
“Committee”). The Committee, which consists solely of independent directors, reviews the financial statements and annual 
report and recommends them to the Board for approval. The Committee meets with management, internal auditors, and 
external auditors to discuss internal controls, auditing matters, and financial reporting issues. Internal and external auditors 
have full and unrestricted access to the Committee. The Committee also recommends the firm of external auditors to be 
appointed by the shareholders. 

Brett M. Gellner  Donald Tremblay 
President and Designated Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 

February 11, 2016 
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Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
To the Shareholders of TransAlta Renewables Inc. 
The following report is provided by management in respect of TransAlta Renewables Inc.’s internal control over financial 
reporting as defined in the Canadian Securities Administrators’ National Instrument 52-109. 
 
TransAlta Renewables Inc.’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over 
financial reporting for TransAlta Renewables Inc. 
 
Management has used the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) 2013 framework 
to evaluate the effectiveness of TransAlta Renewables Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting. Management believes 
that the COSO 2013 framework is a suitable framework for its evaluation of TransAlta Renewables Inc.’s internal control over 
financial reporting because it is free from bias, permits reasonably consistent qualitative and quantitative measurements of 
TransAlta Renewables Inc.’s internal controls, is sufficiently complete so that those relevant factors that would alter a 
conclusion about the effectiveness of TransAlta Renewables Inc.’s internal controls are not omitted, and is relevant to an 
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting. 
 
Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives because 
of its inherent limitations.  Internal control over financial reporting is a process that involves human diligence and compliance 
and is subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from human failures.  Internal control over financial reporting 
also can be circumvented by collusion or improper overrides.  Because of such limitations, there is a risk that material 
misstatements may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial reporting.  However, 
these inherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting process, and it is possible to design safeguards into the 
process to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk. 
 
Management has assessed the effectiveness of TransAlta Renewables Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting, as at 
December 31, 2015, and has concluded that such internal control over financial reporting is effective.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Brett M. Gellner       Donald Tremblay 
President and Designated Chief Executive Officer   Chief Financial Officer 
 
February 11, 2016 
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Independent Auditors’ Report of Registered Public Accounting Firm 
To the Shareholders of TransAlta Renewables Inc. 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of TransAlta Renewables Inc., which comprise the 
consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated statements of earnings, 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 
audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of TransAlta 
Renewables Inc. as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
Calgary, Canada 
 
February 11, 2016 
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings

Year ended Dec. 31 (ns tmtusdses tf Cdsdends etlldrs, ixgipt ds ttmirwnsi sttie) 2015 2014
Revenues 187,124                         186,865                            
Government incentives (Ntti 5) 19,700                          21,134                                
Lease revenue (Ntti 6) 28,866                          25,445                              
Total revenue 235,690                       233,444                           
Royalties and other costs (Ntti 7) 12,875                           12,951                                
Gross margin 222,815                        220,493                           
Operations, maintenance, and administration (Ntti 7) 45,340                         46,605                             
Depreciation and amortization 74,754                          73,951                               
Taxes, other than income taxes 7,314                             6,919                                 
Insurance recoveries (841)                              -                                          
Operating income 96,248                         93,018                               
Finance income related to subsidiaries of TransAlta (Ntti 8) 81,112                            9,331                                 
Net interest expense (Ntti 9) (36,088)                        (36,540)                            
Change in fair value of Class B shares 35,649                          -                                          
Foreign exchange gain (loss) 52,198                          (217)                                   
Earnings before income taxes 229,119                         65,592                              
Income tax expense (Ntti 19) 30,747                          13,579                               
Net earnings 198,372                        52,013                               

Net earnings attributable to:
Common shareholders 194,892                        48,658                              
Non-controlling interest (Ntti 11) 3,480                            3,355                                 

198,372                        52,013                               

164.5                             114.7                                  

1.18                                0.42                                  

Sii dggtrpdsznsg sttis.

Weighted average number of common shares 
  outstanding in the year (rnllntss) (Ntti 19)

Net earnings per share attributable to common 
  shareholders, basic and diluted 
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Year ended Dec. 31 (ns tmtusdses tf Cdsdends etlldrs) 2015 2014
Net earnings 198,372                        52,013                               

Losses on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, net of tax(1) (45)                                (92)                                     
Reclassification of gains on derivatives designated as cash 
    flow hedges to non-financial assets, net of tax(2) (130)                              -                                          

Total items that will not be reclassified subsequently to net earnings (175)                               (92)                                     
Gains on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, net of tax(3) 891                                346                                    
Reclassification of gains on derivatives designated as 
    cash flow hedges to net earnings, net of tax(4) (1,155)                            (203)                                  
Available-for-sale financial assets - net change in fair value (Ntti 8) 6,266                            -                                          

Total items that will be reclassified subsequently to net earnings 6,002                            143                                     
Other comprehensive income 5,827                            51                                       
Total comprehensive income 204,199                        52,064                              

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
   Common shareholders 200,719                                                       48,709 
   Non-controlling interest (Ntti 11) 3,480                            3,355                                 

204,199                        52,064                              

Sii dggtrpdsznsg sttis.

(1) Nit tf nsdtri tdy ridtwiry tf 9 ftr tmi yidr ishih Did. 31, 2915 (2914 ) 33 ridtwiry).�      

(2) Nit tf nsdtri tdy iyqissi tf 48 ftr tmi yidr ishih Did. 31, 2915 (2914 ) Nnl).

(3) Nit tf nsdtri tdy iyqissi tf 136 ftr tmi yidr ishih Did. 31, 2915 (2914 ) 59 iyqissi).

(4) Nit tf nsdtri tdy iyqissi tf 174 ftr tmi yidr ishih Did. 31, 2915 (2914 ) 29 iyqissi).

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
2015 2014

(Restated)*
2,241                             23,726                              

62,259                          35,667                              
2,427                            1,395                                 

4,000                           15                                       
443                               -                                          

Inventory 2,923                            4,081                                 
74,293                          64,884                             

2,011,909                     2,025,601                        
(443,136)                      (379,402)                         

1,568,773                     1,646,199                         

91,722                           98,660                             
6,426                            5                                         
2,902                            2,981                                 

Investment in subsidiaries of TransAlta (Ntti 8) 1,565,079                     119,179                              
Deferred income tax assets (Ntti 19) 26,829                          32,249                              

3,336,024                    1,964,157                          

14,135                           30,893                              
270                               -                                          
351                                9                                         
171                                 405                                   

Dividends payable (Ntti 19) 26,711                           14,714                               
Current portion of deferred revenues (Ntti 17) 425                               425                                    

148,055                        194,951                             
190,118                         241,397                            

649,312                        463,504                           
Class B shares liability (Ntti 18) 241,394                        -                                          

7,146                             16,287                               
Deferred revenues (Ntti 17) 6,127                             6,552                                 

862                               128                                     
215,136                         195,534                            

1,310,095                     923,402                           
Equity 

2,151,951                       1,223,845                         
(168,555)                       (221,175)                            

6,065                            238                                    
1,989,461                     1,002,908                        

36,468                         37,847                              
2,025,929                    1,040,755                        
3,336,024                    1,964,157                          

* See Note 3(A) for prior period restatements.

Commitments and contingencies (Ntti 23)
Subsequent event (Ntti 26)

Sii dggtrpdsznsg sttis.

As at Dec. 31 (ns tmtusdses tf Cdsdends etlldrs)
Cash and cash equivalents (Ntti 12)
Accounts receivable (Nttis 12 dse 24)
Prepaid expenses
Risk management assets (Ntti 12)

Intangible assets (Ntti 14)

Income taxes receivable

Property, plant, and equipment (Ntti 13)
  Cost
  Accumulated depreciation

Risk management assets (Ntti 12)
Other assets

Total assets

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Nttis 12 dse 24)
Other provisions 
Risk management liabilities (Ntti 12)
Income taxes payable

Current portion of long-term debt (Nttis 12,15, dse 24)

Long-term debt (Nttis 12,15, dse 24)

Decommissioning provisions (Ntti 16)

Deferred income tax liabilities (Ntti 19)
Risk management liabilities (Ntti 12)

Total liabilities 

  Common shares (Ntti 19)

Total liabilities and equity

  Deficit
  Accumulated other comprehensive income
Equity attributable to shareholders
Non-controlling interest (Ntti 11)
Total equity

Consolidated Financial Statements

On behalf of the Board: Allen R. Hagerman Kathryn A.B. McQuade
 Director Director
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 
 
(ns tmtusdses tf Cdsdends etlldrs)

Common 
shares  Deficit

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income 

Attributable to 
shareholders

Attributable to 
non-controlling 

interest Total
Balance, Dec. 31, 2014 1,223,845     (221,175)        238                       1,002,908             37,847                   1,040,755    
Net earnings -                      194,892        -                             194,892                 3,480                     198,372       
Other comprehensive income:
      Net losses on derivatives designated 
            as cash flow hedges, net of tax -                      -                      (439)                     (439)                       -                              (439)            

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale 
      financial assets -                      -                      6,266                   6,266                     -                              6,266           

Total comprehensive income -                      194,892        5,827                   200,719                 3,480                     204,199       
Common shares issued to TransAlta 711,516          -                      -                             711,516                   -                              711,516         
Public offering 216,590        -                      -                             216,590                 -                              216,590       
Common share dividends -                      (142,272)      -                             (142,272)                -                              (142,272)      
Distributions to non-controlling interest -                      -                      -                             -                               (4,859)                   (4,859)         
Balance, Dec. 31, 2015 2,151,951     (168,555)     6,065                1,989,461            36,468               2,025,929   

Sii dggtrpdsznsg sttis.

(ns tmtusdses tf Cdsdends etlldrs)

Common 
shares Defecit

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
 income 

Attributable to 
shareholders

Attributable to 
non-controlling 

interest Total

Balance, Dec. 31, 2013 1,223,845     (196,263)       187                            1,027,769               39,290                     1,067,059     
Net earnings -                      48,658          -                                48,658                    3,355                        52,013           
Other comprehensive income:
      Net gains on derivatives designated 
            as cash flow hedges, net of tax -                      -                      51                              51                              -                                51                    
Total comprehensive income -                      48,658          51                              48,709                    3,355                        52,064          
Common share dividends -                      (73,570)        -                                (73,570)                   -                                (73,570)        
Distributions to non-controlling interest -                      -                      -                                -                                (4,798)                     (4,798)           
Balance, Dec. 31, 2014 1,223,845     (221,175)        238                           1,002,908               37,847                     1,040,755     

Sii dggtrpdsznsg sttis.

Consolidated Financial Statements



F8 TransAlta Renewables Inc.    |    2015  Annual Report
F8   TRANSALTA RENEWABLES INC. / 2015 ANNUAL REPORT                                                                                 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year ended Dec. 31 (ns tmtusdses tf Cdsdends etlldrs) 2015 2014
Operating activities

Net earnings 198,372                        52,013                               
Depreciation and amortization 74,754                          73,951                               
Accretion of provisions (Nttis 9 dse 16) 997                               955                                    
Deferred income tax expense (Ntti 19) 27,619                           12,396                               
Change in fair value of Class B shares (Ntti 18) (35,650)                        -                                          
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss (51,664)                         695                                    
Unrealized (gain) loss from risk management activities (20)                                62                                      
Provisions 270                               -                                          
Other non-cash items 733                                1,108                                  
Cash flow from operations before changes in working capital 215,411                          141,180                              
Change in non-cash operating working capital balances (Ntti 29) (26,823)                        2,203                                
Cash flow from operating activities 188,588                        143,383                            
Investing activities
Additions to property, plant, and equipment (Ntti 13) (8,835)                          (8,192)                               
Additions to intangibles (Ntti 14) -                                     (16)                                     
Proceeds on sale of assets 67                                  371                                     
Investment in subsidiaries of TransAlta (Ntti 8) (391,963)                       -                                          
Realized risk management gain (loss) (428)                             220                                    
Change in non-cash investing working capital balances (8,718)                           572                                    
Other -                                     1                                          
Cash flow used in investing activities (409,877)                     (7,044)                              
Financing activities
Net increase in borrowings under credit facilities (Ntti 15) 86,300                         -                                          
Issuance of long-term debt (Ntti 15) 487,058                       -                                          
Debt issuance costs (5,982)                          -                                          
Long-term debt repayments (Ntti 15) (446,951)                      (38,232)                            
Net proceeds on issuance of common shares (Ntti 19) 213,533                         -                                          
Dividends paid on common shares (Ntti 19) (130,275)                       (88,094)                           
Distributions to non-controlling interest (Ntti 11) (4,859)                          (4,798)                              
Change in non-cash financing working capital balances 132                                -                                          
Cash flow from (used in) financing activities 198,956                        (131,124)                            
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                          (22,333)                                    5,215 
Effect of translation on foreign currency cash 848                               146                                    
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (21,485)                         5,361                                 
Cash and cash equivalents, net of bank overdraft, beginning of year 23,726                          18,365                               
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 2,241                             23,726                              

Cash interest received from investment in MRPS 22,714                           -                                          
Cash dividends received from investment in subsidiaries of TransAlta 30,939                          9,331                                 
Cash income taxes paid 3,807                            1,142                                  
Cash interest paid 38,978                          34,412                               

Sii dggtrpdsznsg sttis.

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 (Tabular amounts in thousands of Canadian dollars, except as otherwise noted) 

1.  Corporate Information 
 
A.  Formation of the Corporation 
TransAlta Renewables Inc. (“TransAlta Renewables” or the “Corporation”) was incorporated on May 28, 2013 under the 
Cdsded Busnsiss Ctrptrdtntss Agt and has been formed to own a portfolio of renewable and natural gas power generation 
facilities, and other infrastructure assets. The Corporation is a majority-owned subsidiary of TransAlta Corporation 
(“TransAlta”).  The Corporation’s head office is located in Calgary, Alberta. 
 
B.  Basis of Preparation  
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in compliance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and the subsidiaries, Canadian Hydro 
Developers, Inc. (“CHD”) and Western Sustainable Power Inc. (“WSP”), that it controls.  Control exists when the Corporation 
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the subsidiary.  
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments, 
which are stated at fair value.   
 
The consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments that consist of normal recurring adjustments and accruals that 
are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of results.  The Corporation’s results are partly seasonal 
due to the nature of electricity, which is generally consumed as it is generated; and the nature of wind and run-of-river hydro 
resources, which fluctuate based on both seasonal patterns and annual weather variation.  Typically, run-of-river hydro 
facilities generate most of their electricity and revenues during the spring and summer months when melting snow starts 
feeding watersheds and rivers. Inversely, wind speeds are historically greater during the cold winter months and lower in the 
warm summer months. 
 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Corporation’s functional and 
presentation currency.  All financial information presented in the tables is in Canadian dollars and has been rounded to the 
nearest thousand dollars unless otherwise noted. 
 
These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board on Feb. 11, 2016. 
 
2.  Significant Accounting Policies 
 
A.  Revenue Recognition  
The majority of the Corporation’s revenues are derived from the sale of physical power.  Electrical energy sales are recognized: 
i) at the time of generation and delivery to the purchasing party as metered at the point of interconnection with the 
transmission system; ii) when the amount of the revenue can be reliably measured; iii) when it is probable that the economic 
benefits will flow to the Corporation; and iv) when the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be 
reliably measured.  Green attributes sales are recognized at the time of delivery to the purchasing party.  Green attributes are 
renewable energy certificates and carbon offsets, or other tradable or salable instruments that represent the property rights to 
the environmental, social, and other nonpower qualities of renewable electricity generation that can be sold separately from 
the underlying physical electricity. Revenues are measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  
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In certain situations, a power purchase agreement (“PPA”) may contain, or be considered, a lease. Revenues associated with  
non-lease elements are recognized as goods or services revenues as outlined above. Revenues associated with leases are 
recognized as outlined in Note 2(O). 
 
Dividend income from investments is recognized when the right to receive payment has been established, usually on 
declaration of dividends by the paying entity’s Board of Directors. Dividends characterized as a return of capital are 
recognized as a reduction in the cost of the related investment. 
 
Interest income on financial assets classified as loans and receivables is accrued on a passage of time basis based on the 
principal outstanding and the applicable stated interest rates.  Guarantee fee income is also accrued on the basis of the period 
and amounts over which the guarantee is provided.              
 
B.  Foreign Currency Translation 
The Corporation’s functional currency is the Canadian dollar.  Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities 
are translated at exchange rates in effect at the end of the reporting period.  Transactions denominated in a currency other 
than the functional currency are translated at the exchange rate in effect on the transaction date.  The resulting exchange 
gains or losses are included in net earnings in the period in which they arise.  
 
C.  Financial Instruments and Hedges 
I.  Financial Instruments  
Financial assets and financial liabilities, including derivatives and certain non-financial derivatives, are recognized on the 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position when the Corporation becomes a party to the contract.  All financial 
instruments, except for certain non-financial derivative contracts that meet the Corporation’s own use requirements, are 
measured at fair value upon initial recognition.  Measurement in subsequent periods depends on whether the financial 
instrument has been classified as: at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale, held-to-maturity, loans and 
receivables, or other financial liabilities.  Classification of the financial instrument is determined at inception depending on the 
nature and purpose of the financial instrument.   
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities classified or designated as at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value 
with changes in fair values recognized in net earnings.  Financial assets classified as either held-to-maturity or as loans and 
receivables, and other financial liabilities, are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method of amortization.  
Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as such or that have not been 
classified as another type of financial asset, and are measured at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”).  
Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at cost if fair value is not reliably measurable. 
 
Financial assets are assessed for impairment on an ongoing basis and at reporting dates. An impairment may exist if an 
incurred loss event has arisen that has an impact on the recoverability of the financial asset. Factors that may indicate an 
incurred loss event and related impairment may exist include, for example: a debtor is experiencing significant financial 
difficulty, or a debtor has entered or it is probable that they will enter, bankruptcy or other financial reorganization. 
Additionally, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value, as compared to the cost, of a financial asset classified as 
available-for-sale may be an indicator of impairment. The carrying amount of financial assets is reduced for impairment losses 
through the use of an allowance account, and the loss is recognized in net earnings.  
 
Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to receive cash flows expire.  Financial liabilities are 
derecognized when the obligation is discharged, cancelled, or expired. 
 
Derivative instruments that are embedded in financial or non-financial contracts that are not already required to be 
recognized at fair value are treated and recognized as separate derivatives if their risks and characteristics are not closely 
related to their host contracts and the contract is not measured at fair value.  Changes in the fair values of these and other 
derivative instruments are recognized in net earnings with the exception of the effective portion of derivatives designated as 
cash flow hedges, which is recognized in OCI. 
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Transaction costs are expensed as incurred for financial instruments classified or designated as at fair value through profit or 
loss.  For other financial instruments, such as debt instruments, transaction costs are recognized as part of the carrying 
amount of the financial instrument.  The Corporation uses the effective interest method of amortization for any transaction 
costs or fees, premiums, or discounts earned or incurred for financial instruments measured at amortized cost.   
 
II. Hedges  
Where hedge accounting can be applied and the Corporation chooses to seek hedge accounting treatment, a hedge 
relationship is designated as a fair value hedge or a cash flow hedge.  A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting if, 
at inception, it is formally designated and documented as a hedge, and the hedge is expected to be highly effective at 
inception and on an ongoing basis.  The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument and hedged item or 
transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged, the Corporation’s risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking 
the hedge, and how hedge effectiveness will be assessed.  The process of hedge accounting includes linking derivatives to 
specific recognized assets and liabilities or to specific firm commitments or highly probable anticipated transactions. 
 
The Corporation formally assesses, both at the hedge’s inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives used are 
highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.  If hedge criteria are not met or the 
Corporation does not apply hedge accounting, the derivative is accounted for on the Consolidated Statements of Financial 
Position at fair value, with subsequent changes in fair value recorded in net earnings in the period of change.   
 
In a cash flow hedging relationship, the effective portion of the change in the fair value of the hedging derivative is recognized 
in OCI and any ineffective portion is recognized in net earnings.  Hedge effectiveness is achieved if the derivative’s cash flows 
are highly effective at offsetting the cash flows of the hedged item and the timing of the cash flows is similar.  All components 
of each derivative’s change in fair value are included in the assessment of cash flow hedge effectiveness.  If hedging criteria 
are met, the fair values of the hedges are recorded in risk management assets or liabilities with changes in fair value being 
reported in OCI.  On settlement, gains or losses on these derivatives are recognized in net earnings in the same period and 
financial statement caption as the hedged exposure or in the cost of the asset acquired if the hedge relates to a non-financial 
asset.  If hedge accounting is discontinued, the amounts previously recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 
(“AOCI”) are reclassified to net earnings during the periods when the variability in the cash flows of the hedged item affects 
net earnings.  Gains or losses on derivatives are reclassified to net earnings from AOCI immediately when the forecasted 
transaction is no longer expected to occur within the time period specified in the hedge documentation.  
 
D.  Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. 
 
E.  Inventory 
I. Emission Credits  
Purchased emission credits and allowances are recorded as inventory at cost and are carried at the lower of weighted average 
cost and net realizable value.  Credits granted to, or internally generated by, the Corporation are recorded at nil. 
 
II. Parts, Materials, and Supplies  
Parts, materials, and supplies are recorded at the lower of cost, measured at moving average cost, and net realizable value. 
 
F.  Property, Plant, and Equipment  
The Corporation’s investment in property, plant, and equipment (“PP&E”) is initially measured at the original cost of each 
component at the time of construction, purchase, or acquisition.  A component is a tangible portion of an asset that can be 
separately identified and depreciated over its own expected useful life, and is expected to provide a benefit for a period in 
excess of one year.  Original cost includes items such as materials, labour, borrowing costs, and other directly attributable 
costs, including the initial estimate of the cost of decommissioning and restoration.  Costs are recognized as PP&E assets if it 
is probable that future economic benefits will be realized and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.   

The cost of capital spares is capitalized and classified as PP&E, as these items can only be used in connection with an item of PP&E. 
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Planned life-cycle maintenance for hydro facilities is performed at regular intervals and includes inspection, repair, and 
maintenance of existing components, and the replacement of existing components. Costs incurred are capitalized in the 
period in which maintenance activities occur and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term until the next life-cycle 
maintenance event. Expenditures incurred for the replacement of components are capitalized and amortized over the 
estimated useful life of such components.   
 
The cost of routine repairs and maintenance and the replacement of minor parts are charged to net earnings as incurred. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition and measurement at cost, all classes of PP&E continue to be measured using the cost model 
and are reported at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. 
 
An item of PP&E or a component is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its 
use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is included in net earnings when the asset is derecognized. 
 
The estimate of the useful lives of each component of PP&E is based on current facts and past experience, and takes into 
consideration existing long-term sales agreements and contracts, current and forecasted demand, and the potential for 
technological obsolescence.  The useful life is used to estimate the rate at which the component of PP&E is depreciated.  PP&E 
assets are subject to depreciation when the asset is considered to be available for use, which is typically upon 
commencement of commercial operations.  Each significant component of an item of PP&E is depreciated to its residual value 
over its estimated useful life, using the straight-line method.  Estimated useful lives, residual values, and depreciation methods 
are reviewed annually and are subject to revision based on new or additional information.  The effect of a change in useful life, 
residual value, or depreciation method is accounted for prospectively.  
 
Estimated useful lives of the components of depreciable assets, categorized by asset class, are as follows: 
 Hydro generation   30-50 years 
 Wind generation   5-30 years 
 Capital spares and other  2-10 years 
 
The Corporation capitalizes borrowing costs on capital invested in projects under construction (see Note 2(K)).  Upon 
commencement of commercial operations, capitalized borrowing costs, as a portion of the total cost of the asset, are 
depreciated over the estimated useful life of the related asset.  
 
G.  Intangible Assets 
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognized at their fair value at the date of acquisition.  Intangible 
assets acquired separately are recognized at cost.  Internally generated intangible assets arising from development projects 
are recognized when certain criteria related to the feasibility of internal use or sale, and probable future economic benefits, of 
the intangible asset are demonstrated.  Intangible assets are initially recognized at cost, which is comprised of all directly 
attributable costs necessary to create, produce, and prepare the intangible asset to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets continue to be measured using the cost model, and are reported at cost 
less accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any.  Amortization is included in depreciation and amortization in the 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings. 

Amortization commences when the intangible asset is available for use, and is computed on a straight-line basis over the 
intangible asset’s estimated useful life.  Estimated useful lives of intangible assets may be determined, for example, with 
reference to the term of the related contract or licence agreement.  The estimated useful lives and amortization methods are 
reviewed annually with the effect of any changes being accounted for prospectively.   
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Intangible assets include power sale contracts with fixed prices higher than market prices at the date of acquisition, software, 
and intangibles under development.  Estimated useful lives of intangible assets are as follows: 
 Software    2-7 years 
 Power sale contracts  1-25 years 
 
H.  Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets  
At the end of each reporting period, the Corporation assesses whether there is any indication that PP&E and finite life 
intangible assets are impaired. 
 
Factors that could indicate that an impairment exists include: significant underperformance relative to historical or projected 
operating results; significant changes in the manner in which an asset is used, or in the Corporation’s overall business 
strategy; or significant negative industry or economic trends.  In some cases, these events are clear.  However, in many cases, 
a clearly identifiable event indicating possible impairment does not occur.  Instead, a series of individually insignificant events 
occurs over a period of time leading to an indication that an asset may be impaired.     
 
The Corporation’s operations, the market, and business environment are routinely monitored, and judgments and assessments 
are made to determine whether an event has occurred that indicates a possible impairment.  If such an event has occurred, an 
estimate is made of the recoverable amount of the asset.  Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of 
disposal and its value in use.  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date.  In determining fair value, recent market transactions are taken into account.  If no 
such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model, such as discounted cash flows, is used. Value in use is the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset from its continued use and ultimate 
disposal by the Corporation.  If the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an asset impairment loss is 
recognized in net earnings, and the asset’s carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
 
At each reporting date, an assessment is made whether there is any indication that an impairment loss previously recognized 
may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and 
the impairment loss previously recognized is reversed if there has been an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount.  Where 
an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the lesser of the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount or the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation) had no 
impairment loss been recognized previously.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in net earnings. 
 
I.  Income Taxes 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred income tax.  Current income tax is the expected income tax payable or 
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, 
and any adjustment to income taxes in respect of previous years. 
 
Deferred income tax is recognized in respect of differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes (temporary differences).  Deferred income tax is measured at 
the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the tax laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.   

A deferred income tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses and tax credits to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which such losses can be utilized.  Deferred income tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related income tax benefit will be realized. 
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J.  Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Corporation has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that the Corporation will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation.  A legal obligation can arise through a contract, legislation, or other operation of law.  A constructive obligation 
arises from an entity’s actions whereby through an established pattern of past practice, published policies, or a sufficiently 
specific current statement, the entity has indicated it will accept certain responsibilities and has thus created a valid 
expectation that it will discharge those responsibilities.  The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate, 
remeasured at each period-end, of the expenditures required to settle the present obligation considering the risks and 
uncertainties associated with the obligation.  Where expenditures are expected to be incurred in the future, the obligation is 
measured at its present value using a current market-based, risk-adjusted interest rate. 
 
The Corporation records a decommissioning and restoration provision for all generating facilities for which it is legally or 
constructively required to remove the facilities at the end of their useful lives and restore the site.  For some hydro facilities, 
the Corporation is required to remove the generating equipment, but is not required to remove the structures.  Initial 
decommissioning provisions are recognized at their present value when incurred.  Each reporting date, the Corporation 
determines the present value of the provision using the current discount rates that reflect the time value of money and 
associated risks.  The Corporation recognizes the initial decommissioning and restoration provisions, as well as changes 
resulting from revisions to cost estimates and period-end revisions to the market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate, as a cost 
of the related PP&E (see Note 2(F)).  The accretion of the net present value discount is charged to net earnings each period 
and is included in net interest expense.  
 
Changes in other provisions resulting from revisions to estimates of expenditures required to settle the obligation or period-
end revisions to the market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate are recognized in net earnings.  The accretion of the net present 
value discount is charged to net earnings each period and is included in net interest expense. 
 
K.  Borrowing Costs 
The Corporation capitalizes borrowing costs that are directly attributable to, or relate to general borrowings used for, the 
construction of qualifying assets.  Qualifying assets are assets that take a substantial period of time to prepare for their 
intended use and typically include generating facilities or other assets that are constructed over periods of time exceeding 12 
months.  Borrowing costs are considered to be directly attributable if they could have been avoided if the expenditure on the 
qualifying asset had not been made.  Borrowing costs that are capitalized are included in the cost of the related PP&E 
component.  Capitalization of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for 
its intended use are complete. 
 
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
L.  Non-Controlling Interest 
A non-controlling interest arises from contractual arrangements between the Corporation and other parties, whereby the 
other party has acquired an interest in a specified asset or operation, and the Corporation retains control. 
 
Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of the non-controlling interest is increased or decreased by the non-
controlling interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity and payments to the non-controlling interest.  Total 
comprehensive income is attributed to the non-controlling interest even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a 
negative balance. 
 
M.  Joint Arrangements  
A joint arrangement is a contractual arrangement that establishes the terms by which two or more parties agree to undertake 
and jointly control an economic activity.  The Corporation’s joint arrangements are generally classified as joint operations.  
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



F15TransAlta Renewables Inc.    |    2015  Annual Report
TRANSALTA RENEWABLES INC. / 2015 ANNUAL REPORT F15                                                                               

A joint operation arises when two or more parties that have joint control have rights to the assets, and obligations for the 
liabilities, relating to the arrangement.  Generally, each party takes a share of the output from the asset and each bears an 
agreed upon share of the costs incurred in respect of the joint operation.  The Corporation reports its interests in joint 
operations in its consolidated financial statements using the proportionate consolidation method by recognizing the assets, 
liabilities, revenues, and expenses in respect of its interest in the joint operation that it has a right to. 

N.  Government Incentives  
Government incentives are recognized when the Corporation has reasonable assurance that it will comply with the conditions 
associated with the incentive and that the incentive will be received.  When the incentive relates to an expense or revenue 
item, it is recognized in net earnings over the same period in which the related costs or revenues are recognized.  When the 
incentive relates to an asset, it is recognized as a reduction of the carrying amount of PP&E and released to earnings as a 
reduction in depreciation expense over the expected useful life of the related asset.  
 
O.  Leases 
A lease is an arrangement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee, in return for a payment or series of payments, the right to 
use an asset for an agreed period of time. 
 
PPAs may contain, or may be considered, leases where the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific 
asset (i.e., a generating facility) and the arrangement conveys to the customer the right to use that asset. 
 
Where the Corporation determines that the contractual provisions of a PPA contain, or is, a lease and result in the Corporation 
retaining the principal risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, the arrangement is an operating lease.  For operating 
leases, the asset is, or continues to be, capitalized as PP&E and depreciated over its useful life.  Rental income, including 
contingent rent, from operating leases is recognized over the term of the arrangement and is reflected in revenue on the 
Consolidated Statements of Earnings.  Contingent rent may arise when payments due under the PPA are not fixed in amount 
but vary based on a future factor such as the amount of use or production.   
 
P.  Earnings per Share  
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing earnings attributable to common shareholders by the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding in the year.   
 
The Corporation has no dilutive or potentially dilutive instruments. Class B shares are excluded from the calculation. 
 
Q.  Significant Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates, and assumptions that could 
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities 
during the period.  These estimates are subject to uncertainty.  Actual results could differ from those estimates due to factors 
such as fluctuations in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, inflation and commodity prices, and changes in economic 
conditions, legislation, and regulations and such differences could be material. 
 
In the process of applying the Corporation’s accounting policies management has to make judgments and estimates about 
matters that are highly uncertain at the time the estimate is made and that could significantly affect the amounts recognized 
in the consolidated financial statements.  Different estimates with respect to key variables used in the calculations, or changes 
to estimates, could potentially have a material impact on the Corporation’s financial position or performance.   
 
The key judgments and sources of estimation uncertainty are described below: 
 
I. Significant Influence through Tracking Preferred Shares 
The Corporation has invested in preferred shares of subsidiaries of TransAlta that pay dividends on a basis tracking certain 
financial results of other subsidiaries of TransAlta. Under IFRS, a 20 per cent voting interest is presumed to provide the holder 
with significant influence over the investee. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating 
policy decisions of an investee. 
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The rights associated with the Corporation’s investment in the preferred shares of a subsidiary of TransAlta tracking financial 
results of TransAlta Wyoming Wind LLC provide the Corporation with a 25 per cent voting interest in that subsidiary.  In the 
event any dividends have not been paid within six months of the date at which the payout formula would have them paid, and 
while such amounts remain unpaid, the Corporation will have the right to appoint 75 per cent of the Directors.  
 
The investment in the preferred shares of a subsidiary of TransAlta tracking financial results of TransAlta Energy (Australia) 
Pty Ltd. (“TEA”) does not provide the Corporation with any voting rights, unless and until the subsidiary fails to pay four 
quarterly dividends on the dates when due in accordance with the payout formula, whether or not consecutive, and whether 
or not such dividends have been declared. Thereafter, but only for so long as any such dividend remains in arrears, the 
Corporation is entitled to elect 30 per cent of the Directors of the subsidiary. The investment agreement provides the 
Corporation with rights to financial information and further protections against adverse changes in the operation and financial 
structure of TEA through post-closing covenants. 
 
The Corporation determined that it does not have significant influence over the TransAlta subsidiaries, in consideration of 
TransAlta’s block ownership of the voting shares, and accordingly, the investments were determined to constitute financial 
assets.  
 
II. Dividends as Income or Return of Capital 
The Corporation receives significant dividends from its investment in preferred shares tracking adjusted TEA amounts 
(“TPS”). Determining whether a dividend represents in substance a return of capital requires significant judgment. The 
Corporation determines the amount of dividends that represents a return of capital based on the lower of: i) the difference, if 
positive, between the cost base of the preferred shares tracking adjusted TEA amounts and their fair value, at the end of the 
reporting period; and ii) the actual dividend declared on the preferred shares tracking adjusted TEA amounts during the 
reporting period. When it is determined that a dividend represents a return of capital, the carrying amount of the investment 
is reduced. The Corporation did not determine any dividend earned during the period to constitute a return of capital. 
 
III. Financial Instrument Fair Values 
During the year ended Dec. 31, 2015, the Corporation entered into financial instruments and derivatives that are accounted for 
at fair value, with the initial and subsequent changes in fair value affecting earnings and other comprehensive income in the 
period the change occurs. The fair values of financial instruments and derivatives are classified within three levels, with  
Level III fair values determined using inputs for the asset or liability that are not readily observable. These fair value levels are 
outlined and discussed in more detail in Note 12. Some of the Corporation’s fair values are included in Level III because they 
require the use of internal valuation techniques or models to determine fair value. The determination of the fair value of these 
contracts can be complex and relies on judgments and estimates concerning operating revenue, costs, discount rates, and 
business alternatives, among other factors. These fair value estimates may not necessarily be indicative of the amounts that 
could be realized or settled, and changes in these assumptions could affect the reported fair value of the financial instruments. 
Fair values can fluctuate significantly and can be favourable or unfavourable depending on current market conditions.  

IV. Consolidation of Kent Hills 1 and 2 (“Kent Hills”) Wind Farms 
Under IFRS, the Corporation is required to consolidate all entities that it controls.  The Corporation consolidates Kent Hills as a 
subsidiary.  Kent Hills is subject to a joint venture agreement but is not an incorporated entity.  The Corporation has 
determined that Kent Hills is considered an entity as it is sufficiently ring-fenced to be considered a deemed separate entity.  
Kent Hills is considered ring-fenced because the assets, liabilities, and results of operations of Kent Hills are separate from the 
Corporation and the joint venture agreement specifies how Kent Hills is to be managed.  The Corporation controls Kent Hills 
through its 83 per cent ownership, and accordingly, consolidation is required.   
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V.  Impairment of PP&E 
Impairment exists when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value 
less costs of disposal and its value in use.  An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication 
that an impairment loss may exist or that a previously recognized impairment loss may no longer exist or may have 
decreased.   In determining fair value less costs of disposal, information about third-party transactions for similar assets is 
used and if none is available, other valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flows, are used.  Value in use is computed 
using the present value of management’s best estimates of future cash flows based on the current use and present condition 
of the asset.  In estimating either fair value less costs of disposal or value in use using discounted cash flow methods, 
estimates and assumptions must be made about sales prices, production, capital expenditures, asset retirement costs, and 
other related cash inflows and outflows over the life of the facilities, which can range from 25 to 50 years.  In developing these 
assumptions, management uses estimates of contracted prices, anticipated production levels, planned and unplanned 
outages, changes to regulations, and transmission capacity or constraints for the remaining life of the facilities.  Appropriate 
discount rates reflecting the risks specific to the asset under review are used in the assessments. These estimates and 
assumptions are susceptible to change from period to period and actual results can, and often do, differ from the estimates, 
and can have either a positive or negative impact on the estimate of the impairment charge, and may be material.  All of the 
Corporation’s generating assets are contracted under the TransAlta PPAs or other PPAs with various third parties.  

VI. Income Taxes 
Preparation of the consolidated financial statements involves determining an estimate of, or provision for, income taxes in 
each of the jurisdictions in which the Corporation operates.  The process also involves making an estimate of income taxes 
currently payable and income taxes expected to be payable or recoverable in future periods, referred to as deferred income 
taxes.  Deferred income taxes result from the effects of temporary differences due to items that are treated differently for tax 
and accounting purposes.  The tax effects of these differences are reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Financial 
Position as deferred income tax assets and liabilities. An assessment must also be made to determine the likelihood that the 
Company’s future taxable income will be sufficient to permit the recovery of deferred income tax assets. To the extent that 
such recovery is not probable, deferred income tax assets must be reduced. Management must exercise judgment in its 
assessment of continually changing tax interpretations, regulations, and legislation to ensure deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities are complete and fairly presented.  Differing assessments and applications than the Corporation’s estimates could 
materially impact the amounts recognized for deferred income tax assets and liabilities. 

VII. Provisions for Decommissioning and Restoration Activities 
The Corporation recognizes provisions for decommissioning and restoration obligations as outlined in Note 2(J) and Note 16.  
Initial decommissioning provisions, and subsequent changes thereto, are determined using the Corporation’s best estimate of 
the required cash expenditures, adjusted to reflect the risks and uncertainties inherent in the timing and amount of 
settlement.  The estimated cash expenditures are present valued using a current, risk-adjusted, market-based, pre-tax 
discount rate.   A change in estimated cash flows, market interest rates, or timing could have a material impact on the carrying 
amount of the provision. 

VIII. Useful Life of PP&E 
Each significant component of an item of PP&E is depreciated over its estimated useful life.  Estimated useful lives are 
determined based on current facts and past experience, and take into consideration the anticipated physical life of the asset, 
existing long-term sales agreements and contracts, current and forecasted demand, the potential for technological 
obsolescence, and regulations.  The useful lives of PP&E are reviewed at least annually to ensure they continue to be 
appropriate.  
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3.  Accounting Changes 
 
A.  Current Accounting Changes  
Inventory Reclassification 
During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Corporation finalized changes to its accounting system to improve tracking and 
management of parts, materials, and supplies that are expected to be consumed in the production process. Previously, these 
items were comprised in other capital spare parts. As a result, approximately $2.9 million was reclassified to Inventory in current 
assets from Property, Plant, and Equipment. The Corporation restated the Comparative Consolidated Statements of Financial 
Position as at Dec. 31, 2014 to similarly reclassify parts, materials, and supplies to Inventory in the amount of $4.1 million.   

B.  Future Accounting Changes 
Accounting standards that have been previously issued by the IASB, but are not yet effective and have not been applied by the 
Corporation include:  
 
I. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
In July 2014, on completion of the impairment phase of the project to reform accounting for financial instruments and replace 
IAS 39 Fnsdsgndl Isstrurists: Rigtgsntnts dse Midsuririst, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Fnsdsgndl Isstrurists.  
IFRS 9 includes guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, impairment of 
financial assets (i.e., recognition of credit losses), and a new hedge accounting model.   
 
Under the classification and measurement requirements for financial assets, financial assets must be classified and measured 
at either amortized cost or at fair value through profit or loss or through OCI, depending on the basis of the entity’s business 
model for managing the financial asset and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.   
 
The classification requirements for financial liabilities are unchanged from IAS 39. IFRS 9 measurement requirements address 
the problem of volatility in net earnings arising from an issuer choosing to measure certain liabilities at fair value and require 
that the portion of the change in fair value due to changes in the entity’s own credit risk be presented in OCI, rather than 
within net earnings.  
  
The new general hedge accounting model is intended to be simpler and more closely focus on how an entity manages its risks, 
replaces the IAS 39 quantitative effectiveness testing requirements with economic relationship effectiveness criteria, and 
eliminates the requirement for retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness.   
 
The new requirements for impairment of financial assets introduce an expected-loss impairment model that requires more 
timely recognition of expected credit losses. IAS 39 impairment requirements are based on an incurred loss model where 
credit losses are not recognized until there is evidence of a trigger event. 
 
IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after Jan. 1, 2018, with early application permitted. The Corporation is 
assessing the impact of adopting this standard on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
II.  IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 Rivisui frtr Ctstrdgts wntm Custtrirs, which replaces existing revenue recognition 
guidance with a single comprehensive accounting model.  The model specifies that an entity recognizes revenue when it 
transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which it expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.  In 2015, the IASB delayed the effective date of IFRS 15 by one year. IFRS 15 is 
now effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after Jan. 1, 2018, with early application permitted.  The 
Corporation is assessing the impact of adopting this standard on its consolidated financial statements. 
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III. IFRS 16 Leases 
In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 Lidsis, which replaces the current IFRS guidance on leases. Under current guidance, 
lessees are required to determine if the lease is a finance or operating lease, based on specified criteria. Finance leases are 
recognized on the statement of financial position, while operating leases are not. Under IFRS 16, lessees must recognize a 
lease liability and a right-of-use asset for virtually all lease contracts. An optional exemption to not recognize certain short-
term leases and leases of low value can be applied by lessees. For lessors, the accounting remains essentially unchanged. 
 
IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after Jan. 1, 2019, with early application permitted if IFRS 15 is also 
applied at the same time.  
 
The Corporation is assessing the impact of adopting this standard on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
4.  Significant Events  
 
A. 2015 
Investment in TransAlta’s Western Australian Portfolio 
On May 7, 2015, the Corporation invested in an economic interest that is based on the cash flows of TransAlta’s Australian 
assets (the “Transaction”). The Transaction was originally announced on March 23, 2015. TransAlta’s Australia assets, held by 
TEA, presently consists of 425 MW of power generation from six gas-fueled operating facilities and the 150 MW South 
Hedland Power Station project, currently under construction, as well as the recently commissioned 270 kilometre gas pipeline 
(the “Australian Assets”). TransAlta will continue to own, manage, and operate the Australian Assets. The Transaction was 
set at $1.78 billion, and consists of an initial investment and a commitment to fund the remaining construction costs for the 
South Hedland project. The investment agreement provides the Corporation with certain protections in relation to exchange 
rates, the cost to complete the construction of the South Hedland project, and the timing of the commencement of its 
commercial operation. 
 
Initial Investment 
The Corporation’s initial investment was set at $1,284 million and consists of securities of TEA, which provide the Corporation 
a priority return on invested capital (Mandatory Redeemable Preferred Shares or “MRPS”); Class A Preferred shares issued by 
another subsidiary of TransAlta, which provide an economic interest based on cash flows of the Australian Assets broadly 
equal to the underlying net distributable profits of TEA (preferred shares tracking adjusted TEA amounts); and a return based 
on guarantees of TEA obligations indirectly assumed by the Corporation.  
 
As consideration, the Corporation provided to TransAlta $216.9 million in cash and issued 58,270,933 common shares and 
26,086,956 Class B shares. The Class B shares provide voting rights equivalent to the common shares and are non-dividend 
paying, and will convert to common shares when the South Hedland project is fully commissioned. The number of common 
shares that TransAlta will receive on the conversion of the Class B shares will be adjusted based on the actual amount that the 
Corporation funds for the construction and commissioning of the South Hedland project relative to the budgeted costs. In the 
event that the construction amount funded by the Corporation exceeds the budgeted costs, TransAlta will receive fewer 
common shares upon conversion and, comparably, TransAlta will receive more common shares in the event that the 
Corporation funds less than the budgeted costs.  
 
The Corporation funded the cash proceeds through the public issuance of 17,858,423 subscription receipts at a price of $12.65 
per subscription receipt.  The offering closed in two parts on April 15 and 23, 2015.   In total, the Corporation received 
approximately $226 million in gross proceeds, and incurred $8.2 million in share issue costs, net of $2.5 million income tax 
recovery.  Upon the closing of the Transaction, each holder of a subscription receipt received one common share of the 
Corporation and a cash dividend equivalent payment of $0.06416 for each subscription receipt held. As a result, the 
Corporation issued 17,858,423 common shares and paid a total dividend equivalent of $1.1 million. 
 
Upon closing of the Transaction on May 7, 2015, the Transaction values were revised to fair values on that day in accordance 
with IFRS requirements, as described in Note 12. 
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Commitment to Fund Construction of the South Hedland Project 
The remaining budgeted costs to be funded by the Corporation in connection with the construction and commissioning of the 
South Hedland project (through the “Contribution Agreement”) were estimated at approximately $491 million (AUD$507 
million) at closing, and are expected to be funded through a combination of internally generated cash flow and borrowings under 
a credit facility. Under the Contribution Agreement, when funds are required by TEA for construction purposes, the Corporation 
will subscribe for and purchase preferred shares, MRPS, or other securities issued by TEA, all which will be denominated and 
payable in Australian dollars.  The Corporation expects to fund these costs over an approximate two-year time period, until the 
anticipated commissioning of the South Hedland project in mid-2017.  To protect against adverse fluctuations in the exchange 
rate between the Canadian and Australian dollars over this period, and the impact such fluctuations will have on the total 
Canadian dollar funding cost, the Corporation entered into a hedge agreement with TransAlta, whereby the cost of the Australian 
dollars has been fixed at $0.9684 Canadian per Australian dollar. The hedge on contribution commitment is considered a held-
for-trading derivative and accordingly it is accounted for at fair value through profit and loss.  
 
Investment in TransAlta’s Sarnia Cogeneration Plant, Le Nordais Wind Farm, and Ragged Chute Hydro Facility 
On Nov. 23, 2015, the Corporation entered into an investment agreement with TransAlta, pursuant to which it agreed to 
acquire an economic interest based on the cash flows of TransAlta’s Sarnia cogeneration plant, Le Nordais wind farm and 
Ragged Chute hydro facility (the “Canadian Assets”) for a combined value of approximately $540 million. The Canadian 
Assets consist of approximately 611 MW of highly contracted power generation assets located in Ontario and Quebec. The 
Corporation’s investment consists of the acquisition of tracking preferred shares of a subsidiary of TransAlta that will provide 
the Corporation with an economic interest based on cash flows broadly equal to the underlying net distributable profits of the 
entities that own the Canadian Assets. TransAlta will continue to own, manage, and operate the Canadian Assets. As at  
Dec. 31, 2015, a substantive closing condition remained outstanding and accordingly the investment in Canadian Assets and 
associated financing are not reflected in these financial statements. On Jan. 6, 2016, the Corporation announced the closing of 
the investment in the Canadian Assets for a combined value of $540 million. Refer to Note 26 for further details. 
 
The Corporation financed the investment through a combination of cash, unsecured debentures, and shares issued to TransAlta.  
 
In order to fund the cash consideration payable to TransAlta, TransAlta Renewables issued 15,385,000 subscription receipts 
at a price of $9.75 per subscription receipt for gross proceeds of approximately $150 million on Nov. 25, 2015.  In addition, 
TransAlta Renewables granted an over-allotment option to the underwriters to purchase up to 2,307,750 subscription receipts 
at the same price for gross proceeds of up to approximately $23 million.  The underwriters exercised in full the over-allotment 
option. The offering and the over-allotment option closed on Dec. 2, 2015. The Corporation received approximately $173 
million in gross proceeds ($166 million in net proceeds). The proceeds from the sale of the subscription receipts were directed 
to an escrow agent and invested in a demand deposit account with a Canadian chartered bank. 
 
Sale of TransAlta Renewables Shares by TransAlta 
On Nov. 26, 2015, TransAlta completed the sale to Alberta Investment Management Corporation (“AIMCo”) of 20,512,820 
TransAlta Renewables common shares for proceeds of $200 million.  As a result, TransAlta’s ownership interest was reduced 
from approximately 76.1 per cent to approximately 66.6 per cent (including the Class B common shares).  The Corporation did 
not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of common shares, as these shares were owned and held by TransAlta. 
 
As part of the AIMCo investment, the Corporation has granted to AIMCo a pre-emptive right to purchase such number of 
common shares of the Corporation in respect of any future offerings of common shares, or securities convertible into common 
shares, in order to allow AIMCo to maintain its proportionate shareholdings in the Corporation, provided that AIMCo's 
ownership remains above a specific threshold. 
 
B. 2014 
Secondary Offering of TransAlta Renewables Shares by TransAlta 
On April 29, 2014, TransAlta completed a secondary public offering of 11,950,000 common shares of the Corporation at a 
price of $11.40 per common share.  As a result, TransAlta’s ownership interest was reduced from approximately 80.7 per cent 
to approximately 70.3 per cent.  The Corporation did not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of common shares, as 
these shares were owned and held by TransAlta. 
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5.  Government Incentives 
 
Certain of the Corporation’s wind and hydro facilities are eligible to receive incentives under the Wind Power Production 
Incentive or the ecoENERGY for Renewable Power incentive programs sponsored by the Canadian federal government to 
encourage the development of clean power generation projects in Canada.  Qualifying facilities receive specified incentive 
payments for every kilowatt hour of energy production for a period of up to 10 years from commissioning. 
 
6.  Lease Revenue 
 
Several of the Corporation’s wind and hydro PPAs for the sale of electrical energy meet the criteria of operating leases, 
whereby the Corporation is the lessor and the customer is the lessee.  Revenues earned under these contracts are reported as 
lease revenue. 
 
7.  Expense by Nature 
 
Expenses classified by nature are as follows: 
 

Royalties and other 
costs

Operations, 
maintenance, and 

administration
Royalties and other 

costs

Operations, 
maintenance, and 

administration(1)

Royalties and land lease costs 10,450                       -                                  10,846                           -                                          
Transmission tariffs 2,425                         -                                  2,105                              -                                          
Contracted operating expenses -                                  17,933                        -                                       18,783                               
Other operating expenses -                                  27,407                       -                                       27,822                              
Total 12,875                        45,340                       12,951                             46,605                             

(1) Tmi G&A Rinrcursirist Fii mds ciis rigldssnfnie tt gtstrdgtie tpirdtnsg ixpissis tt gtsftrr wntm tmi gurrist pirnte's prisistdtnts. Tmns rigldssnfngdtnts ene stt 
nrpdgt privntuslz riptrtie sit idrsnsgs.

Year ended Dec. 31 2015 2014

 
In 2014, the Corporation and TransAlta adjusted the way in which these revenue-based royalties are calculated to align the costs 
incurred by the Corporation with the revenue base of the TransAlta PPAs. During the year ended Dec. 31, 2015, nil  
(2014 – $1.5 million) was recognized as a reduction in royalties and other costs. Of the 2014 amount, $0.6 million relates to 2013.  
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8.  Finance Income Related to Subsidiaries of TransAlta 
 
Finance income related to subsidiaries of TransAlta is comprised of income from various interests that in aggregate and over 
time indirectly provide the Corporation with cash flows that track to those of TEA and TransAlta Wyoming Wind LLC, 
respectively. Finance income earned is as follows: 
 

2015 2014

22,870                          -                                          
235                               -                                          

Fee income from indirect guarantee of TEA obligations 12,414                           -                                          
36,221                           -                                          

Total finance income related to TEA 71,740                          -                                     

9,372                            9,331                                 
Total 81,112                            9,331                                 

Year ended Dec. 31

Interest income from investment in mandatory redeemable preferred shares of TEA

Dividend income from investment in preferred shares tracking adjusted TEA amounts

Dividend income from investment in preferred shares
    tracking earnings and distributions of TransAlta Wyoming Wind LLC

Dividend income from investment in preferred shares of TEA � 

Finance income is recognized in cash flows from operating activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses related to monetary investments in subsidiaries of TransAlta are recognized within foreign 
exchange gain (loss) in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. 
 
A summary of the investments in subsidiaries of TransAlta is as follows:  
 
As at Dec. 31 2,015                             2,014                                 
Investment in mandatory redeemable preferred shares of TEA 589,396                       -                                          

803,900                       -                                          
29,127                           -                                          

Total investments in subsidiaries related to TEA 1,422,423                     -                                          

142,656                        119,179                              
Total investment in subsidiaries of TransAlta 1,565,079                     119,179                              

Investment in preferred shares tracking adjusted TEA amounts

Investment in preferred shares tracking earnings and
  distributions of TransAlta Wyoming Wind LLC

Investment in preferred shares of TEA 

 
Interest income from the investment in MRPS and preferred shares of TEA represents income realized from the average 
coupon rates. The Corporation also receives a fee for providing an indemnity in respect of those guarantees of TransAlta 
disclosed in Note 23. Ultimately, these cash flows are deducted from the TEA amounts that form the basis for dividends 
payable. That basis is broadly comprised of earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation, and amortization, plus net 
cash interest, less cash taxes, sustaining capital expenditures, and other adjustments. Income from all Australian sources is 
fixed in Canadian dollars at the following exchange rates:  
 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Thereafter until 

June 30, 2020
Income denominated in AUD 0.98 0.96 0.96 0.94 0.94 0.94
Income denominated in USD 1.24 1.24 1.24 1.24 1.24 1.20
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Changes in the investments in subsidiaries of TransAlta that relate to TEA are detailed as follows:  

Mandatory Redeemable 
Preferred Shares of TEA(1)

Preferred shares 
tracking adjusted 

TEA amounts

Preferred 
shares of 

TEA(2) Total
Issuance on initial investment (Ntti 12) 423,152                                 795,983                    -                       1,219,135      
Additional investment 144,312                                  -                                  30,778           175,090       

21,932                                    -                                  -                       21,932          
-                                              7,917                          (1,651)              6,266           

Investment balance at Dec. 31, 2015 589,396                            803,900                29,127          1,422,423    

(2) Prnsdnqdl drtvst tf dhhntntsdl nswistrist dsh ds dt Did. 31, 2915 wds AUD$31,899.

Unrealized foreign exchange gains recognized in earnings
Net change in fair value recognized in OCI

(1) Prnsdnqdl drtvst dt tmi hdti tf nssvdsdi ts Mdy 7tm, 2915 wds AUD$443,527 dsh ds nswistrist tf AUD$149,299 hvrnsg tmi tmnrh dsh ftvrtm rvdrtirs. Tmi tttdl qrnsdnqdl drtvst 
ds dt Did. 31, 2915 wds AUD$592,727.

During the third and fourth quarters of 2015, the Corporation made an additional investment in MRPS and preferred shares of 
TEA as part of the Contribution Agreement in connection with the construction of the South Hedland project. The preferred 
shares of TEA are non-voting and rank subordinate to all present and future secured and unsecured indebtedness of TEA, 
subordinate to the MRPS, but senior to all other classes of issued and outstanding shares in the capital of TEA. The dividends 
are non-cumulative and payable quarterly at a rate of 7.4 per cent per annum. The preferred shares have been designated as 
an available-for-sale financial asset.  
 
The Corporation estimated the fair value of the TPS utilizing significant unobservable inputs such as TEA’s long-range forecast 
as part of a discounted cash flow model, as outlined in Note 12(B)(I)(c). Key assumptions in respect of significant 
unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement include the discount rate and the quarterly cash flows from the 
instrument and guarantee fees. The model extends over 32 years. The table below summarizes quantitative data regarding 
these unobservable inputs: 
  

Unobservable input
Inception date           
(May 7, 2015) Dec. 31, 2015

Discount rate 7.2 per cent 7.6 per cent
Quarterly cash flows Average of 15,400 Average of 15,640

The changes in the fair value of the TPS from issuance to Dec. 31, 2015 are primarily attributable to gains on foreign exchange 
and delayed capital spend, partially offset by the increased discount rate and revised MRPS redemption methodology.  
 
The following table summarizes the impact on the fair value measurement of a change in the unobservable inputs to reflect 
reasonably possible alternative assumptions:  
 

Unobservable input
Change in fair value as 

at Dec. 31, 2015

Basis point change in discount rates -10 basis points decrease 7,264                              
+10 basis points increase (7,148)                             

Quarterly cash flows +1% increase 8,039                              
- 1% decrease (8,039)                            

Alternative assumption
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9.  Net Interest Expense  
 
The components of net interest expense are as follows: 
 
Year ended Dec. 31 2015 2014

Interest on long-term debt 35,021                          35,567                              
Fee for letters of credit and guarantees pledged by TransAlta (Ntti 24) 227                               40                                      
Interest income (157)                               (22)                                     
Accretion of provisions (Ntti 16) 997                               955                                    
Net interest expense 36,088                         36,540                              

10.  Income Taxes 
 
A.  Consolidated Statements of Earnings
I.  Rate Reconciliation
Year ended Dec. 31 2015 2014

Earnings before income taxes 229,119                  65,592                              
Net earnings attributable to non-controlling interests (3,480)                   (3,355)                               

Adjusted earnings before income taxes 225,639                 62,237                              
Statutory Canadian federal and provincial income tax rate (%)(1) 26.0                       25.0                                   
Expected income tax expense 58,666                   15,559                               
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
    Non-taxable capital (gains) losses (11,577)                   -                                          
    Writedown of deferred income tax assets 1,506                      252                                    
    Adjustments in respect of deferred income tax of previous years (1,530)                    -                                          
    Statutory and other rate differences 3,782                     -                                          
    Change in fair value of Class B shares (9,269)                   -                                          
    Transaction fair value differences at initial recognition 4,200                    -                                          
    Dividend income not subject to tax (17,729)                  (2,333)                               
    Other 2,698                     101                                     
Income tax expense 30,747                   13,579                               
Effective tax rate (%) 14                           22                                      

(1) Cmdsgi ns tdy rdti hvi tt nsdridsi ns Alfirtd nsdtri tdy rdti frtr 19 qir dist tt 12 qir dist, iffidtnwi Jvly 1, 2915.

II.  Components of Income Tax Expense
The components of income tax expense (recovery) are as follows:

Year ended Dec. 31 2015 2014

Current income tax expense 3,286                     1,315                                  
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years (158)                       (132)                                   
Adjustments in respect of deferred income tax of previous years (1,371)                     102                                     
Deferred income tax expense arising from the writedown of deferred income tax assets 1,506                      252                                    
Deferred income tax expense resulting from changes in tax rates or laws 3,782                     -                                          
Deferred income tax expense related to the origination and reversal of temporary differences 23,702                   12,042                              
Income tax expense 30,747                   13,579                               

 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



F25TransAlta Renewables Inc.    |    2015  Annual Report
TRANSALTA RENEWABLES INC. / 2015 ANNUAL REPORT F25                                                                               

Year ended Dec. 31 2015 2014
Current income tax expense 3,128                      1,183                                  

Deferred income tax expense 27,619                    12,396                               
Income tax expense 30,747                   13,579                               

B.  Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
The aggregate current and deferred income tax related to items charged or credited to equity is as follows:

Year ended Dec. 31 2015 2014

Income tax expense (recovery) related to:
    Cash flow hedges (95)                         (12)                                     
    Common share issue costs (2,502)                   -                                          
Income tax recovery reported in equity (2,597)                    (12)                                     

C.  Components of Net Deferred Income Tax Liability
Significant components of the Corporation's net deferred income tax (asset) liability are as follows:

As at Dec. 31 2015 2014

Net operating and capital loss carryforwards (197,792)                (214,511)                            
Property, plant, and equipment 381,631                  377,740                           
Foreign exchange differences on US-denominated debt 3,408                     -                                          
Risk management assets and liabilities, net 1,060                     56                                      
Net deferred income tax liability 188,307                 163,285                            

The net deferred income tax liability presented in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position is as follows: 
 
As at Dec. 31 2015 2014

Deferred income tax assets (26,829)                 (32,249)                            
Deferred income tax liabilities 215,136                  195,534                            
Net deferred income tax liability 188,307                 163,285                            

11.  Non-Controlling Interest 
 
The Corporation’s non-controlling interest is comprised of Natural Forces Technologies Inc. 17% interest in Kent Hills. 
Summarized financial information relating to Kent Hills is as follows: 
 
Year ended Dec. 31 2015 2014
Results of operations
Revenues 36,154                          36,156                               
Net earnings and total comprehensive income 20,471                          19,735                               

 
As at Dec. 31 2015 2014
Financial position
Current assets 5,004                           6,654                                
Long-term assets 210,388                        218,950                            
Current liabilities (601)                              (2,452)                               
Long-term liabilities (271)                               (520)                                  
Total equity (214,520)                      (222,632)                          
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12.  Financial Instruments and Risk Management 
 
A.  Financial Assets and Liabilities – Classification and Measurement 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis at fair value or amortized cost (see Note 2(C)). 
Following the close of the Transaction described in Note 4, the Corporation is party to new financial instruments. The MRPS of 
TEA have been classified as loans and receivables, the TPS and the preferred shares of TEA have been classified as available-
for-sale, and the Class B shares issued have been classified as a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. The hedge 
on contribution commitment has been classified as a held-for-trading derivative. 
 
The following table outlines the carrying amounts and classifications of the financial assets and liabilities:  
 

Carrying value as at Dec. 31, 2015

Cash flow 
hedges

Derivatives 
classified as held 

for trading
Loans and 

receivables
Available-for-

sale(1)

Other 
financial 
liabilities Total 

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents -                  -                               2,241          -                   -                  2,241           
Accounts receivable -                  -                               62,259       -                   -                  62,259        
Risk management assets

Current 10               3,990                      -                  -                   -                  4,000          
Long-term 1,014          5,412                       -                  -                   -                  6,426          

      Investment in subsidiaries of TransAlta -                  -                               589,396    975,683      -                  1,565,079   

Financial liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities -                  -                               -                  -                   14,135        14,135          
Class B shares liability 241,394     241,394       
Dividends payable -                  -                               -                  -                   26,711        26,711          
Risk management liabilities

Current -                  351                           -                  -                   -                  351               
Long-term -                  862                          -                  -                   -                  862              

Long-term debt(2)
-                  -                               -                  -                   797,367     797,367      

(1) Isdlvhis nswistrist ns tmi Wytrnsg Wnsh LLC, wmndm ns ridsvrih dt dtst tf $142.7 rnllnts (US$192.7 rnllnts) (sii sidtnts B.IV. tf tmns stti).
(2) Isdlvhis dvrrist qtrtnts.
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Carrying value as at Dec. 31, 2014

Cash flow 
hedges

Derivatives 
classified as held 

for trading
Loans and 

receivables
Available-for-

sale(1)

Other 
financial  
liabilities Total

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents -                    -                                    23,726         -                      -                    23,726          
Accounts receivable -                    -                                    35,667         -                      -                    35,667          
Risk management assets

Current 15                  -                                    -                    -                      -                    15                    
Long-term 5                   -                                    -                    -                      -                    5                     

      Investment in subsidiaries of TransAlta -                    -                                    -                    119,179          -                    119,179          

Financial liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities -                    -                                    -                    -                      30,893        30,893          
Dividends payable -                    -                                    -                    -                      14,714          14,714            
Risk management liabilities
  Current 6                   3                                   -                    -                      -                    9                     
  Long-term -                    128                               -                    -                      -                    128                 
Long-term debt(2)

-                    -                                    -                    -                      658,455      658,455        

(1) Midsvrih dt dtst (sii sidtnts B.IV. tf tmns stti).
(2) Isdlvhis dvrrist qtrtnts.

 
B.  Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  Fair values can be determined by reference to 
prices for that instrument in active markets to which the Corporation has access.  In the absence of an active market, the 
Corporation determines fair values based on valuation models or by reference to other similar products in active markets. 
 
Fair values determined using valuation models require the use of assumptions.  In determining those assumptions, the 
Corporation looks primarily to external readily observable market inputs.  In limited circumstances, the Corporation uses 
inputs that are not based on observable market data. 
 
I.   Level Determinations and Classifications 
The Level I, II, and III classifications in the fair value hierarchy utilized by the Corporation are defined below. The fair value 
measurement of a financial instrument is included in only one of the three levels, the determination of which is based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the derivation of the fair value. 
 
a.  Level I  
Fair values are determined using inputs that are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the Corporation has the ability to access at the measurement date.   
 
b.  Level II  
Fair values are determined, directly or indirectly, using inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly.  
 
Fair values within the Level II category are determined through the use of quoted prices in active markets, which in some 
cases are adjusted for factors specific to the asset or liability, such as basis, credit valuation, and location differentials.  
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The Corporation’s commodity risk management Level II financial instruments include over-the-counter derivatives with values 
based on observable commodity futures curves and derivatives with inputs validated by broker quotes or other publicly 
available market data providers. Level II fair values are also determined using valuation techniques, such as option pricing 
models and regression or extrapolation formulas, where the inputs are readily observable, including commodity prices for 
similar assets or liabilities in active markets, and implied volatilities for options.  
 
In determining Level II fair values of other risk management assets and liabilities and the preferred shares of TEA measured and 
carried at fair value, the Corporation uses observable inputs other than unadjusted quoted prices that are observable for the asset 
or liability, such as interest rate yield curves and currency rates. For certain financial instruments where insufficient trading 
volume or lack of recent trades exists, the Corporation relies on similar interest or currency rate inputs and other third-party 
information such as credit spreads. The fair value of the preferred shares of TEA is determined using a discounted cash flow 
methodology based on inputs including interest and currency rates and a discount rate reflecting the risks specific to TEA.  
 
c.  Level III  
Fair values are determined using inputs for the asset or liability that are not readily observable. 
 
In estimating the fair value of the preferred shares tracking adjusted TEA amounts, the Corporation uses a discounted cash 
flow method, and makes estimates and assumptions about sales prices, production, capital expenditures, asset retirement 
costs, and other related cash inflows and outflows over the life of the facilities, as well as the remaining life of the facilities. In 
developing these assumptions, management uses estimates of contracted prices, anticipated production levels, planned and 
unplanned outages, changes to regulations, and transmission capacity or constraints for the estimated remaining life of the 
facilities. Appropriate discount rates reflecting the risks specific to TEA are used in the valuations. Management also develops 
assumptions in respect of ongoing financing and tax positions of TEA. These estimates and assumptions are susceptible to 
change from period to period and actual results can, and often do, differ from the estimates, and can have either a positive or 
negative impact on the estimate of the fair value of the instrument, and may be material.  Additional disclosures on this 
measurement are presented in Note 8. 
 
Estimates of the fair value of the Class B shares liability can vary based on the estimated cost of construction and 
commissioning of the South Hedland project by TEA, which can vary based on emergent or unforeseen capital needs of the 
project, or release of uncommitted planned contingency funds. Additional disclosures on this measurement are presented in 
Note 18. 
 
TransAlta enters into commodity risk management contracts on behalf of the Corporation. These contracts may include 
commodity transactions for which market-observable data is not available or contracts with terms that extend beyond a liquid 
trading period where forward price forecasts are not available for the full period of the contract. In these cases, Level III fair 
values are determined by TransAlta personnel using valuation techniques such as the mark-to-forecast model with inputs that 
are based on historical data such as unit availability, transmission congestion, demand profiles for individual non-standard 
deals and structured products, volatilities and correlations between products derived from historical prices, and/or a 
combination of external and internal fundamental modelling, including discounting.  
 
TransAlta has a Commodity Exposure Management Policy that governs both proprietary and hedging commodity transactions 
undertaken by TransAlta on behalf of the Corporation, and defines and specifies the controls and management responsibilities 
associated with commodity trading activities, as well as the nature and frequency of required reporting of such activities.  
  
Methodologies and procedures regarding commodity-based Level III fair value measurements are determined by TransAlta’s 
risk management department, on behalf of the Corporation. Level III fair values are calculated within TransAlta’s energy 
trading risk management system based on underlying contractual data and observable and non-observable inputs.  
Development of non-observable inputs requires the use of judgment.  To ensure reasonability, system-generated Level III fair 
value measurements are reviewed and validated by TransAlta’s risk management and finance departments.  Review occurs 
formally on a quarterly basis or more frequently if daily review and monitoring procedures identify unexpected changes to fair 
value or changes to key parameters. 
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II. Fair Values at Initial Recognition – Transaction 
Financial instruments exchanged in the Transaction were initially recognized at fair value on May 7, 2015. Usually, transaction 
prices are the best evidence of fair value. Because the terms of the Transaction were finalized on March 23, 2015, valuation 
differences from the originally estimated initial investment value of $1,284 million have arisen. These changes result from 
variations in foreign exchange rates and equity prices in the intervening period. Further changes arose from the recognition of 
the benefit to the Corporation of the non-participation feature of Class B shares. 
 
Fair value of the least observable financial instrument exchanged at that date, the preferred shares tracking adjusted TEA 
amounts, was determined by reference to the net value of other instruments at closing date, as follows: 

Instrument
Fair value 
level Primary valuation basis Value

Common shares issued to TransAlta I Closing common share price on May 7th, 2015 712,071
Class B shares issued to TransAlta III Closing common share price on May 7th, 2015, minus the present value 

of estimated $0.07 per share monthly dividend, discounted using a risk 
free rate for the period to conversion, assuming South Hedland on 
schedule and costs at target 277,043

Cash consideration to TransAlta I Cash value 216,873

Derivative hedge liability on contribution 
commitment

II Currency rates
13,148

Mandatory redeemable preferred shares II Discounted cash flows, using interest, currency and discount rates (423,152)

Tracking preferred shares III Net value 795,983

 
III. Commodity and Other Risk Management Assets and Liabilities 
The Corporation’s commodity-based risk management assets and liabilities relate to trading activities and certain contracting 
activities. Other risk management assets and liabilities include risk management assets and liabilities that are used in hedging 
foreign currency exposures, including those related to the Contribution Agreement described in Note 4. 
 
The following tables summarize the key factors impacting the fair value of the Corporation’s risk management assets and 
liabilities by classification level during the years ended Dec. 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively: 
 

Cash flow 
hedges Non-hedges Non-hedges
Level II Level II Level III Level II Level III Total  

Net risk management assets (liabilities) at Dec. 31, 2014 14                  (3)                (128)             11            (128)       (117)      
Changes attributable to: 

Market price changes on existing contracts 5                   -                   20                 5             20           25         
Market price changes on new contracts 1,015            8,296         -                    9,311      -              9,311     

      Contracts settled (9)                 3                  -                    (6)           -              (6)         
Net risk management assets (liabilities) at Dec. 31, 2015 1,025          8,296        (108)           9,321    (108)      9,213    
Additional Level III information:
Total gains included in earnings before income taxes 20                 20           20         
Unrealized gain included in earnings before income 
   taxes related to net liabilities held at Dec. 31, 2015 20                 20           20         

Total
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Non-hedges Non-hedges
Level II Level II Level III Level II Level III Total  

Net risk management liabilities at Dec. 31, 2013 (39)               -                   (65)               (39)         (65)         (104)      
Changes attributable to: 

Market price changes on existing contracts 382               -                   (63)               382        (63)         319         
Market price changes on new contracts -                    (3)                -                    (3)           -              (3)           
Contracts settled (5)                  (324)           -                    (329)      -              (329)      
Discontinued hedge accounting on certain contracts (324)             324             -                    -              -              -            

Net risk management assets (liabilities) at Dec. 31, 2014 14                  (3)                (128)             11            (128)       (117)        

Additional Level III information:

Total losses included in earnings before income taxes (63)               (63)         (63)         
Unrealized losses included in earnings before income 
   taxes related to net liabilities held at Dec. 31, 2014 (63)               (63)         (63)         

Cash flow 
hedges Total

To the extent applicable, changes in net risk management assets and liabilities for non-hedge positions are reflected within 
net earnings. 
 
The effect of using reasonably possible alternative assumptions as inputs to valuation techniques from which the Level III 
commodity fair values are determined at Dec. 31, 2015 is estimated to be +/- $0.1 million (2014 +/– $0.1 million).  Fair values 
are stressed for volumes and prices.  The variable volumes are stressed up and down one standard deviation from historically 
available production data.  Prices are stressed for longer-term deals where there are no liquid market quotes using various 
internal and external forecasting sources to establish a high and a low price range.   
 
IV.  Financial Instruments not Recognized at Fair Value 
The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, short-term investment, accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities, subscription receipt liability, and dividends payable approximates their fair value at the statement of financial 
position date due to their short-term nature.   
 
The fair value of the MRPS of TEA and long-term debt is as follows:  

Level I Level II Level III Total

-               570,049           -              570,049          589,396                  
Long-term debt(1) - Dec. 31, 2015 -               802,896           -              802,896          797,367                  
Long-term debt(1) - Dec. 31, 2014 -                 682,121                -                682,121               658,455                     

(1) Isglueis gurrist ptrtnts

Fair Value
Carrying value

Mandatory redeemable preferred shares of 
  TEA - Dec. 31, 2015

 
The fair value of the Corporation’s debentures is determined using prices observed in secondary markets.  The fair value of the 
MRPS is determined using a discounted cash flow methodology based on inputs including interest and currency rates and a 
discount rate reflecting the risks specific to TEA. The fair value of long-term debt is determined by calculating an implied price 
based on a current assessment of the yield to maturity. 
 
The Corporation’s investment in the preferred shares of a subsidiary of TransAlta tracking earnings and distributions of TransAlta 
Wyoming Wind LLC (see Note 8) has been designated as available-for-sale. The investment can fluctuate in value based on 
fluctuations in fair value of the member units of TransAlta Wyoming Wind LLC. There are no quoted prices for an identical 
instrument in an active market for either instrument. The Corporation has determined that the fair value of the investment in 
preferred shares is not reliably measurable as the probabilities of the various estimates cannot be reasonably assessed, notably 
because of the related party nature of the investment. Accordingly, the investment in preferred shares is measured at cost. The 
Corporation intends to realize the value of the investment over time and through mutual agreement with TransAlta. 
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V.   Cash Flow Hedges 
a.   Foreign Currency Rate Risk Management 
The Corporation uses foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge a portion of its future foreign-denominated receipts and 
expenditures and to manage foreign exchange exposure on foreign-denominated debt. 
 
Outstanding notional amounts and fair values associated with these forward contracts are as follows: 
  
As at Dec. 31

Notional 
amount 

sold

Notional 
amount 

purchased
Fair value 

asset Maturity

Notional 
amount 

sold
Notional amount 

purchased
Fair value 

liability Maturity
Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts - foreign-denominated receipts/expenditures

-                         -                        -                     -                       CAD 2,494     EUR 1,763 (5)                      2015
Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts - foreign-denominated debt

CAD 26,462 USD 20,000 1,014             2018 -                            -                           -                        -                          

20142015

 
b.   Effect of Cash Flow Hedges 
The following tables summarize the pre-tax amounts recognized in and reclassified out of OCI related to the effective portion 
of cash flow hedges. No significant ineffectiveness has been recognized. 

Derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships
Pre-tax gain (loss) 
recognized in OCI

Location of (gain) loss reclassified 
from OCI 

Pre-tax (gain) loss
reclassified 

from OCI

Commodity contracts 13                                Revenue (23)                                    

Foreign exchange forwards on project hedges (54)                             Property, plant, and equipment (178)                                  
Foreign exchange forwards on US debt 1,014                          Foreign exchange (gain) loss (1,306)                               
OCI impact 973                             OCI impact (1,507)                               

Year ended Dec. 31, 2015

Derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships
Pre-tax gain (loss) 
recognized in OCI

Location of (gain) loss reclassified 
from OCI 

Pre-tax (gain) loss 
reclassified from OCI

Commodity contracts (1)                                     Revenue 2                                             
Foreign exchange forwards on project hedges (124)                                Property, plant, and equipment -                                              
Foreign exchange forwards on US debt 396                                 Foreign exchange (gain) loss (234)                                      
OCI impact 271                                  OCI impact (232)                                       

Year ended Dec. 31, 2014

 
VI. Non-Hedges 
a. Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts 
The Corporation periodically enters into foreign exchange forwards to hedge future foreign-denominated cash flows for which 
hedge accounting is not pursued. These items are classified as held for trading, and changes in the fair values associated with 
these transactions are recognized in net earnings. 
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Outstanding notional amounts and fair values associated with these forward contracts are as follows: 
 

As at Dec. 31
Notional 
amount 

sold

Notional 
amount 

purchased
Fair value 

liability Maturity

Notional 
amount 

sold
Notional amount 

purchased
Fair value 

liability Maturity

 USD 19,500   CAD 25,806 (1,106)            2016-2018  CAD 5,016   USD 4,300 (3)                      2015

2015 2014

b. Contribution Commitment 
As outlined in Note 4, the Corporation entered into a hedge agreement with TransAlta related to its commitment to fund the  
Australian-dollar-denominated construction of the South Hedland project. 
 
The outstanding notional amounts and fair values are as follows: 
 
As at Dec. 31

Notional 
amount 

sold

Notional 
amount 

purchased
Fair value 

asset Maturity

Notional 
amount 

sold
Notional amount 

purchased Fair value asset Maturity
CAD 315,698 AUD 326,000 9,402            2016-2017 -                            -                           -                        -                          

2015 2014

 
C.  Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments and Derivatives 
 
I.  Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk that customers or counterparties will cause a financial loss for the Corporation by failing to discharge 
their obligations, and the risk to the Corporation associated with changes in creditworthiness of entities with which 
commercial exposures exist. The Corporation actively manages its exposure to credit risk by assessing the ability of 
counterparties to fulfill their obligations under the related contracts prior to entering into such contracts.  The Corporation 
makes detailed assessments of the credit quality of all counterparties and, where appropriate, obtains corporate guarantees, 
cash collateral, letters of credit, or third-party insurance to support the ultimate collection of these receivables.  For 
commodity trading, the Corporation sets strict credit limits for each counterparty and monitors exposures on a daily basis.  If 
credit limits are exceeded, the Corporation will request collateral from the counterparty or halt trading activities with the 
counterparty. 
 
The Corporation has limited direct exposure to credit risk, as the majority of its power sales contracts are with TransAlta, 
governments, and large utility customers with extensive operations.  Historically, the Corporation has not had collection 
issues associated with its receivables and the aging of receivables is reviewed on a regular basis to ensure the timely 
collection of amounts owing to the Corporation.   

The aging of the Corporation’s receivables is as follows: 

As at Dec. 31 2015 2014
Receivables less than 60 days 61,917                           33,327                              
Receivables between 60 - 120 days 13                                  1,725                                 
Receivables over 120 days 329                               615                                     
Total accounts receivable 62,259                          35,667                              
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The Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk at Dec. 31, 2015, without taking into account collateral held or right of set-
off, and including indirect exposure arising from the Corporation’s investment in preferred shares tracking adjusted TEA 
amounts, is detailed as follows:   
 
Component Amount Key risk assessment factors

Dnrigt ixptsuri
Accounts receivable and risk 
management assets

72,685                

MRPS 589,396              

Total - Direct exposure 662,081              

Isenrigt ixptsuri
Accounts receivable and finance 
lease receivable of TEA

471,124               

Total 1,133,205            

The Corporation’s counterparties were primarily investment grade.  At Dec. 31, 2015, 
the Corporation had two unrelated customers whose outstanding balances each 
accounted for greater than 10 per cent of the total third-party trade accounts 
receivable outstanding.  The Corporation has evaluated the risk of default related to 
these customers to be minimal.  On Dec.17, 2015,  Moody’s downgraded the senior 
unsecured rating on TransAlta's US bonds 1 notch from Baa3 to Ba1 (outlook stable). 
TransAlta maintains investment grade ratings with stable outlooks from three credit 
rating agencies including BBB- by Standard & Poor’s, BBB by DBRS, and BBB- by Fitch 
Ratings.

The outstanding balance also includes a dividend receivable of $14.9 million on the 
tracking preferred shares from a subsidiary of TransAlta. As the dividend declaration 
was made while considering the sufficiency of funds available, the risk of default has 
been assessed as minimal.

The MRPS form TEA’s least subordinate significant form of long-term financing, which 
benefits from TEA’s contract and counterparty profile.

TEA had one unrelated below investment grade customer whose outstanding balances 
accounted for 96% of total trade accounts receivable and finance lease receivable 
outstanding. Risk of significant loss arising from this counterparty has been assessed 
as low in the near term, but could increase to moderate in an environment of sustained 
low commodity prices over the mid- to long term. Our assessment takes into 
consideration the counterparty’s financial position, external rating assessments, and 
how TEA provides its services in an area of the counterparty’s lower-cost operations, 
and TransAlta’s other credit risk management practices.

II. Other Market Risks 
Following the closing of the Transaction, the Corporation is exposed to additional market risks, based on changes in the fair 
values of the Class B shares, the preferred shares tracking adjusted TEA amounts, and the preferred shares of TEA. A one per 
cent increase (decrease) in the value of these securities would result in a $2.4 million decrease (increase) in net earnings, and 
an $8.3 million increase (decrease) in OCI, respectively. 
 
III. Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk relates to the Corporation’s ability to access capital to be used in commodity hedging, capital projects, debt 
refinancing, and general corporate purposes.  The Corporation is focused on maintaining a strong financial position.  

The Corporation manages its liquidity risk associated with its financial liabilities by utilizing cash flow generated from 
operations, capital market transactions, and borrowing arrangements with TransAlta.  The Corporation is in compliance with 
all financial covenants relating to its debt obligations as at Dec. 31, 2015. 
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The following table presents the contractual maturities of the Corporation’s financial liabilities: 

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
2021 and 

thereafter Total  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 14,135         -                   -                   -                  -                   -                     14,135          
Long-term debt 148,055      35,357        240,349     33,554      32,472       314,793       804,580      
Net risk management (assets) liabilities (3,649)        (5,049)       (623)            -                  -                   108               (9,213)          
Interest on long-term debt(1) 40,734       29,517        21,146         13,884      12,608        46,980        164,869       
Dividends payable 26,711         -                   -                   -                  -                   -                     26,711          
Contribution commitment(1) 99,745       215,953      -                   -                  -                   -                     315,698       
Total 325,731     275,778    260,872    47,438    45,080     361,881      1,316,780     
(1) Ntt ridtgsnzih ds d fnsdsdndl lndfnlnty ts tmi Ctsstlnhdtih Stdtirists tf Fnsdsdndl Ptsntnts.

 
The Corporation manages liquidity risk associated with debentures and the contribution commitment by preparing and 
revising long-term financing plans reflecting business plans and market availability of capital. 
 
The Class B shares liability will be settled by the issuance of common shares, and accordingly, does not give rise to liquidity risk. 
 
IV.  Foreign Currency Rate Risk 
The Corporation has exposure to various currencies, such as the US and Australian dollars, as a result of investments in 
subsidiaries of TransAlta.  Following the closing of the Transaction the Corporation has mitigated the anticipated incremental 
exposure to the Australian- and US-dollar-denominated cash flows arising from the Transaction for the period through  
June 30, 2020 through the use of contractual agreements with TransAlta (see Notes 4 and 8).  
 
The foreign currency risk sensitivities outlined below are limited to the risks that arise on financial instruments denominated 
in currencies other than the functional currency. 
 
The possible effect on net earnings and OCI, for the years ended Dec. 31, 2015 and 2014, due to changes in foreign exchange 
rates associated with financial instruments denominated in currencies other than the Corporation’s functional currency, is 
outlined below. The sensitivity analysis has been prepared using management’s assessment that an average four cent  
(2014 – four cent) increase or decrease in these currencies relative to the Canadian dollar is a reasonable potential change 
over the next quarter. 
 
Year ended Dec. 31

Currency
Net earnings 

increase(1) OCI gain(1)
Net earnings 

increase(1) OCI gain(1)

USD 2,464               15,845              2                       -                                   
AUD 19,498             34,353              -                        -                                   
EUR -                        -                         -                        53                                
Total 21,962              50,198              2                       53                                

20142015

(1) Tmisi ddldvldtntss dssvri ds nsdridsi ns tmi wdlvi tf tmns dvrrisdy rildtnwi tt tmi Cdsdhnds htlldr.  A hidridsi wtvlh mdwi tmi tqqtsnti iffidt.
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V.  Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk arises as the future cash flows of a financial instrument can fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates, 
which can impact the Corporation’s borrowing costs.   
 
All of the Corporation’s long-term debt except its credit facility, as described in Note 15, is comprised of fixed interest rate 
debt. The possible effect on net earnings due to changes in market interest rates affecting the Corporation’s floating rate debt 
is outlined below. The sensitivity analysis has been prepared using management’s assessment that a 15 basis point increase or 
decrease is a reasonable potential change over the next quarter in market interest rates. 

Year ended Dec. 31
Net earnings 

increase(1) OCI gain(1)
Net earnings 

increase(1) OCI gain(1)

Basis point change 95                     -                         -                        -                                   

2015 2014

(1) Tmisi ddldvldtntss dssvri d hidridsi ns rdrkit nstirist rdtis.  A nsdridsi wtvlh mdwi tmi tqqtsnti iffidt.

 
The Corporation’s interest rate risk management strategy is to minimize cash flow volatility due to interest rate risk by 
ensuring its long-term debt has fixed interest rates where possible. 

VI. Commodity Price Risk 
The Corporation’s contractual profile minimizes commodity price risk by selling substantially all power under long-term contracts. 
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13.  Property, Plant, and Equipment 
 
The changes in the cost of major categories of property, plant, and equipment and related accumulated depreciation are as follows: 

Hydro 
generation

Wind 
generation

Capital spares 
and other Total

Cost
As at Dec. 31, 2013 246,950          1,766,824        7,612                          2,021,386                  

Additions 806                  5,757                1,629                          8,192                           
Disposals and retirements (163)                  (2,200)             -                                  (2,363)                        
Revisions and additions to
  decommissioning costs 1,856                1,066                -                                  2,922                          
Impairment charges (1,500)              -                         -                                  (1,500)                        
Impairment reversals 1,572                -                         -                                  1,572                           
Transfers(1) -                         (222)                 (4,386)                       (4,608)                       

As at Dec. 31, 2014(1) 249,521           1,771,225         4,855                         2,025,601                  
Additions 1,381                 6,429               1,025                          8,835                      
Disposals and retirements 7                        (3,763)              -                                  (3,756)                     
Adjustments with TransAlta -                         (8,242)             -                                  (8,242)                    
Revisions and additions to
  decommissioning costs (6,152)              (3,986)             -                                  (10,138)                    
Transfers -                         777                   (1,168)                         (391)                         

As at Dec. 31, 2015 244,757        1,762,440     4,712                      2,011,909               

Accumulated depreciation
As at Dec. 31, 2013 51,314               263,073          -                                  314,387                      

Depreciation 7,143                58,298             -                                  65,441                        
Impairment reversals 72                     -                         -                                  72                                
Disposals and retirements (65)                   (405)                 -                                  (470)                           
Transfers -                         (28)                   -                                  (28)                              

As at Dec. 31, 2014 58,464            320,938          -                                  379,402                     
Depreciation 6,374               58,154              -                                  64,528                    
Disposals and retirements 139                    (933)                 -                                  (794)                        

As at Dec. 31, 2015 64,977           378,159         -                              443,136                  

Carrying amount
As at Dec. 31, 2014 191,057            1,450,287       4,855                         1,646,199                   
As at Dec. 31, 2015 179,780         1,384,281       4,712                      1,568,773               

(1) Ristdtih ) sii Ntti 3A.

The Corporation has transmission connection facilities for Kent Hills that are leased under a finance lease.  The net carrying 
amount included in wind generation as at Dec. 31, 2015 was $4.7 million (2014 – $5.0 million).   
 
During the first quarter of 2015, the Corporation recognized an adjustment to give effect to an indemnity from TransAlta for 
the benefit of the Corporation in respect to a dispute for final disbursements in relation to a construction project completed 
prior to the formation of the Corporation. As a result, during 2015, the Corporation received $10.0 million from TransAlta, 
applied a reduction to PP&E of $8.2 million, and recognized a liability of $1.2 million in excess of a previously recognized 
accounts payable amount. 
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14.  Intangible Assets 

A reconciliation of the changes in the carrying amount of intangible assets is as follows: 

Power sale 
contracts(1) Software Total

Cost
As at Dec. 31, 2013 134,500                      1,073                           135,573                       
        Additions -                                    16                                 16                                 
        Transfers -                                    348                              348                              
As at Dec. 31, 2014 134,500                      1,437                           135,937                       
        Transfers -                                    392                              392                          
As at Dec. 31, 2015 134,500                  1,829                       136,329                   

Accumulated amortization
As at Dec. 31, 2013 29,675                        614                              30,289                        
        Amortization 6,844                          144                              6,988                          
As at Dec. 31, 2014 36,519                         758                              37,277                        
        Amortization 7,125                           205                              7,330                       
As at Dec. 31, 2015 43,644                    963                          44,607                    

Carrying amount
As at Dec. 31, 2014 97,981                         679                              98,660                       
As at Dec. 31, 2015 90,856                    866                          91,722                     

(1) Ctrqrnsih tf wdlvis dsstdndtih wntm dirtdns qtwir sdli dtstrddts tmdt drtsi ts TrdssAltd's ddrvnsntnts tf CHD wmirify tmi qrndi tf ilidtrndnty tt fi hilnwirih vshir tmi dtstrddts 
iydiihih tmi rdrkit qrndi.
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15.  Long-Term Debt 

A.  Amounts Outstanding 
As at Dec. 31

Carrying 
value 

Face 
value Interest(1)

Carrying 
value

Face 
value Interest(1)

Credit facility 86,307       86,307       2.84% -                    -                    -                    
Unsecured debentures (2) 230,021     231,268     6.25% 344,201      346,698      5.91%
Pingston bond 44,791       45,000      2.95% 34,978        35,000        5.28%
Melancthon-Wolfe Wind bond 436,248    442,005    3.83% -                    -                    -                    
Amortizing Term Loan -                  -                  -                  178,364       178,364       4.00%
Wyoming Wind Acquisition Loan -                  -                  -                  100,912       100,912       4.00%

797,367     804,580    658,455      660,974     
Less: current portion (148,055)   (148,055)   (194,951)      (194,951)      
Total long-term debt 649,312     656,525     463,504     466,023      

(1) Istirist rdti riflidts tmi stnqvldtih rdti tr tmi dwirdgi rdti wingmtih fy qrnsdnqdl drtvsts tvtstdshnsg.

(2) Isdlvhis US$29.9 rnllnts (Did. 21, 2914 ) US$29.9 rnllnts).

2015 2014

 
Unsecured Debentures bear interest at fixed rates ranging from 5.69 per cent to 7.31 per cent, with interest payable semi-
annually and no principal repayments until maturity, which ranges from 2016 to 2018.  These debentures are unsecured.  
Included in this amount is $27.8 million (2014 – $23.2 million) of Series 5 debentures that have a principal amount of 
US$20.0 million. 
 
Pingston Bond bears interest at 2.95 per cent, with interest payable semi-annually and no principal repayments until maturity 
in May 2023, and is secured by the Pingston hydro facility, which at Dec. 31, 2015 had a carrying value of $48 million. On  
Feb. 11, 2015, the Corporation and its partner refinanced and paid out the maturing secured debenture bearing interest at 5.28 
per cent.  
 
Melancthon-Wolfe Wind Bond bears interest at 3.834 per cent, with principal and interest payable semi-annually in blended 
payments until maturity on Dec. 31, 2028 and is secured by a first ranking charge over all assets of the issuer, the Melancthon 
and Wolfe Island wind farms, which at Dec. 31, 2015 had a combined carrying value of $646 million. The net proceeds were 
used to repay the Amortizing Term Loan and Wyoming Acquisition Loan to TransAlta in full, with the balance partially paying 
down the credit facility.  
 
Credit Facility The Corporation has a $350 million credit facility with TransAlta (2014 – $100 million).  Borrowings under the 
facility bear interest at the Bankers’ Acceptance Rate plus a 200 basis point credit spread per annum.  As at Dec. 31, 2015, the 
borrowing rate is approximately 2.84 per cent.  The facility is made available for general corporate purposes, including 
financing ongoing working capital requirements.  
 
B.  Restrictions 
Unsecured debentures include restrictive covenants requiring the proceeds received from the sale of certain assets to be 
reinvested into similar renewable assets.  
 
The Melancthon-Wolfe Wind and Pingston bonds are subject to customary financing conditions and covenants that restrict 
the Corporation’s ability to access funds generated by the facilities’ operations. 
 
C.  Principal Repayments 

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
2021 and 

thereafter Total
Principal repayments 148,055                    35,357         240,349             33,554             32,472           314,793       804,580 
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16.  Decommissioning Provisions 

The change in the decommissioning and restoration provision balance is outlined below:  
Decommissioning and 

restoration
Balance, Dec. 31, 2013 12,410                               

Accretion 955                                    
Revisions in discount rates 2,922                                 
Balance, Dec. 31, 2014 16,287                               
Accretion 997                               
Revisions in discount rates (10,138)                         
Balance, Dec. 31, 2015 7,146                             

 

A decommissioning and restoration provision has been recognized for all generating facilities for which the Corporation is 
legally, or constructively, required to remove the facilities at the end of their useful lives and restore the sites to their original 
condition.  The Corporation estimates that the undiscounted amount of cash flows required to settle the decommissioning 
and restoration obligations is approximately $133 million, which will be incurred between 2029 and 2060.  The majority of the 
costs will be incurred between 2030 and 2050.   
 
17.  Deferred Revenues 
 
Deferred revenues consist primarily of a payment received under a PPA for the option, by the purchaser, to extend the term of 
the contract.  This amount is amortized on a straight-line basis into revenue over the original term of the contract.   
 
18.  Class B Shares 
 
As at Dec. 31, 2015, there are 26,086,956 Class B shares outstanding (2014 – nil), following closing of the Transaction. The 
characteristics of Class B shares are described in Note 4. As the Class B shares are convertible into common shares at a 
variable rate, they are classified as liabilities and their change in value is recognized in net earnings. Changes in the value of 
the Class B shares are unrealized and relate to the change in value of underlying common shares during the period, net of the 
effect of estimated foregone dividends, as discounted using a risk-free rate for the period to conversion. 
 
Estimated commissioning date and total costs for the construction of the South Hedland project represent significant 
unobservable inputs to the valuation. At inception and on Dec. 31, 2015, commissioning is anticipated as scheduled and costs 
were estimated to be at target. A one per cent increase or decrease in costs would have resulted in a $4 million corresponding 
decrease or increase in fair value, respectively. A one-month delay or acceleration in achieving commissioning would have 
resulted in a corresponding $2 million decrease or increase in fair value, respectively. 
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19.  Common Shares 
 
A.   Authorized and Outstanding 
The Corporation is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares without nominal or par value and an unlimited 
number of preferred shares.  The common shares entitle the holders thereof to one vote per share at meetings of 
shareholders.  The preferred shares are issuable in series and have such rights, restrictions, conditions, and limitations as the 
Board may from time to time determine. No preferred shares have been issued. 
 
The Corporation’s issued and outstanding common shares are as follows: 

As at Dec. 31
Common 

shares 
(rnllntss)

Amount
(tmtusdses)

Common 
shares 

(rnllntss)
Amount

(tmtusdses)
Issued and outstanding, beginning of year 114.7                        1,223,845                114.7                            1,223,845                   
Issued to TransAlta 58.2                         711,516                    -                                    -                                    
Public offering(1) 17.9                          216,590                   -                                    -                                    
Issued and outstanding, end of year 190.8                       2,151,951                 114.7                            1,223,845                   

(1) Nit tf dftir)tdy nssvdsdi dtsts tf $8.2 rnllnts ($19.7 rnllnts nssvdsdi dtsts, liss tdy)iffidts tf $2.5 rnllnts).

2015 2014

 
B.  Dividends 
The declaration of dividends on the Corporation’s common shares is at the discretion of the Board. 
 
The following table summarizes the common share dividends declared in 2015 and 2014: 
 

Dividends declared
Total dividends 

per share Total dividends TransAlta Other shareholders
Year ended Dec. 31, 2015 0.82248               142,272                       98,708           43,564                   
Year ended Dec. 31, 2014 0.64160                  73,570                            51,720              21,850                       

In conjunction with the closing of the Canadian Asset acquisition on Jan. 6, 2016, the Corporation declared a dividend 
increase of five per cent resulting in cash dividends of $0.07333 per common share payable on Feb. 29, 2016. 
 
On Feb. 11, 2016, the Corporation declared monthly dividends of $0.07333 per common share, payable on March 31, 2016, 
April 29, 2016, and May 31, 2016. 
 
20.  Change in Non-Cash Operating Working Capital 
 
Year ended Dec. 31 2015 2014

Source (use):
  Accounts receivable (17,841)                         1,745                                 
  Prepaid expenses (953)                              1,058                                 
  Inventory 1,297                             140                                    
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (8,649)                          (780)                                  
  Income taxes payable (234)                              40                                      
Change in non-cash operating working capital (26,823)                        2,203                                
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21.  Capital 
 
The Corporation’s objectives in managing its capital are to ensure it is able to support day-to-day operations and meet 
required financial obligations, as well as to provide for growth opportunities and ensure stable and predictable distributions to 
shareholders.  
 
The Corporation’s capital is comprised of the following: 

As at Dec. 31 2015 2014
Increase/    

(decrease)
Current portion of long-term debt 148,055                        194,951                             (46,896)                    
Less: available cash and cash equivalents (2,241)                           (23,726)                            21,485                       

145,814                         171,225                             (25,411)                      

Long-term debt 649,312                        463,504                           185,808                    
Equity
     Common shares 2,151,951                       1,223,845                         928,106                    
     Deficit (168,555)                       (221,175)                            52,620                      
     Accumulated other comprehensive income 6,065                            238                                    5,827                         
     Non-controlling interest 36,468                         37,847                              (1,379)                        

2,675,241                     1,504,259                         1,170,982                  

Total capital 2,821,055                     1,675,484                        1,145,571                   

The Corporation’s capital structure was comprised of a larger percentage of debt in 2014 compared to 2015. This was driven 
by the nature of the transactions in 2015 that were financed utilizing a larger proportion of equity, as compared to the mix of 
debt and equity making up the Corporation’s capital structure in 2014. The Corporation is focused on matching long-term 
amortizing debt to assets with long-term contracts. Despite this difference in the capital structure from 2014, the 
Corporation’s objectives in managing capital have not changed since Dec.31, 2014. 
 

CHD unsecured debentures of $230 million (Dec. 31, 2014 – $344 million) issued by the Corporation’s Canadian Hydro 
Developers, Inc. subsidiary include restrictive covenants requiring the cash proceeds received from the sale of assets to be 
reinvested into similar renewable assets or in the repayment of the debentures. 
 
The Melancthon-Wolfe Wind bond of $442 million (Dec. 31, 2014 – nil), and the Pingston bond of $45 million  
(Dec. 31, 2014 – $35 million) are secured by renewable generation facilities and are subject to customary financing 
restrictions, which restrict the Corporation’s ability to access funds generated by the facilities’ operations.  
 
At Dec. 31, 2015, TransAlta Renewables was in compliance with all financial covenants to its debt obligations. 
 
The Corporation will be required to fund construction of South Hedland (Note 23(C)) and refinance, or otherwise repay, the 
unsecured debentures as they become due (Note 15) through 2018.  There is no guarantee that cash flow from operations will 
be sufficient, or that the Corporation will be able to obtain financing, to repay the principal amounts of these debentures.  
 
Dividends on the Corporation’s common shares are at the discretion of the Board. In determining the payment and level of 
future dividends, the Board considers the financial performance, results of operations, cash flow and needs, with respect to 
financing ongoing operations and growth, balanced against returning capital to shareholders.  
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22.  Joint Operations 

The Corporation’s joint operations at Dec. 31, 2015 and 2014 include the following: 

Joint operations
Ownership 
(pir gist)

McBride Lake 50 Wind generation facility in Alberta operated by the Corporation
Pingston 50 Hydro facility in British Columbia operated by the Corporation
Soderglen 50 Wind generation facility in Alberta operated by the Corporation

Description

 
23.  Commitments and Contingencies 
 
A.  Contracts for Goods and Services 
In the ordinary course of operations, the Corporation routinely enters into contracts for the purchase of goods and services 
and for leases of equipment.  The Corporation also has several long-term service agreements in place for repairs and 
maintenance that may be required on turbines at wind facilities.  In addition, the Corporation has an agreement with TransAlta 
for general and administrative services.  
 
Approximate future payments under these and other contractual obligations are as follows: 

Long-term
service

agreements

General
administrative

services(1)
Water rentals and 
equipment leases Total

2016 12,920                               15,229                               344                                    28,493                          
2017 9,940                                15,706                               352                                    25,998                          
2018 11,409                               16,031                               359                                    27,799                          
2019 11,637                                16,351                                366                                    28,354                          
2020 11,918                                16,678                               373                                    28,969                          
2021 and thereafter 27,604                              249,741                            742                                    278,087                       
Total 85,428                          329,736                        2,536                            417,700                        
(1)  Isdlvhis ds nsdridsi ds d risvlt tf tmi nswistrist ns tmi Cdsdhnds Assits tvtlnsih ns Nttis 4 dsh 26.

B. Guarantees 
As part of the Transaction, the Corporation entered into a Guarantee and Indemnification Agreement in favour of TransAlta 
related to certain guarantees TransAlta has provided to third parties in respect of certain obligations of TEA (the “TEA 
Guarantees”). The Corporation has agreed to indemnify TransAlta from and against all claims, actions, proceedings, liabilities, 
losses, costs, expenses, or damages against or incurred by TransAlta arising out of or in connection with the TEA Guarantees 
and to reimburse TransAlta in full for the amount of any payment made by TransAlta under and in accordance with the TEA 
Guarantees, relating to actions, omissions, events, and circumstances that occur on or after May 7, 2015. As at Dec. 31, 2015, 
the total amounts guaranteed by the Corporation were $1,013 million. 
 
As consideration for this indemnity, TransAlta is required to pay the Corporation the Canadian dollar equivalent of the 
guarantor fees it receives from TEA in respect of any of the TEA Guarantees, subject to the fixed rate conversion as described 
in Note 8. 
 
 
 
 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



F43TransAlta Renewables Inc.    |    2015  Annual Report
TRANSALTA RENEWABLES INC. / 2015 ANNUAL REPORT F43                                                                               

C. Contribution Commitment  
As described in Note 4, the Corporation entered into a Contribution Agreement to fund the remaining costs for the 
construction and commissioning of the South Hedland project, which at Dec. 31, 2015 are estimated to be approximately  
$316 million (AUD$326 million), including effect of the economic hedge. 

D.  Litigation 
In the normal course of business, the Corporation may become party to litigation claims.  There are currently no known claims 
that the Corporation has determined as significant enough to require disclosure.   
 
24.  Related-Party Transactions and Balances 
 
The Corporation entered into certain agreements and transactions with TransAlta that are discussed in more detail below. 
  
A. Related-Party Transactions 
Related-party transactions include the royalty and other revenue-based cost adjustments (Note 7), the fee for letters of credit 
and guarantees pledged by TransAlta (Note 9), finance income related to subsidiaries of TransAlta (Note 8), and the 
adjustment in respect of PP&E (Note 13). Also, all financial instruments and derivatives that relate to the Corporation are 
entered into on behalf of the Corporation by a subsidiary of TransAlta. 
 
Significant related-party transactions that are not otherwise presented elsewhere consist of the following: 
 
Year ended Dec. 31 2015 2014
Revenue from TransAlta PPAs (I) 34,403                         31,376                               
Revenue from green attributes(1)

2,328                            -                                          
G&A Reimbursement Fee(2)(II) 10,600                          10,380                              
Interest expense on Amortizing Term Loan 5,087                            7,448                                
Interest expense on Wyoming Wind Acquisition Loan 3,392                            4,021                                 
Interest expense on credit facility 717                                -                                          
Realized foreign exchange loss on hedge contribution commitment 191                                 -                                          

(2) Isdlvhis qtrtnts dmdrgih hnridtly tt tmi Wytrnsg Wnsh Fdrr.�    

(1) Tmi wdlvi tf tmi griis dttrnfvtis wds hitirrnsih fy rifirisdi tt rdrkit nsftrrdtnts ftr snrnldr nsstrvrists, nsdlvhnsg mnsttrnddl trdssddtntss wntm tmnrh qdrtnis, wntm tmi 
trdssddtntss vltnrdtily riwniwih dsh dqqrtwih fy tmi Ctrqtrdtnts's nshiqishist rirfirs tf tmi Btdrh tf Dnridttrs.

 
All of these transactions are with TransAlta or subsidiaries of TransAlta. 
 
I.  TransAlta PPAs 
The Corporation has agreements with TransAlta for certain wind and hydro facilities, providing for the purchase by TransAlta, 
for a fixed price, of all of the power produced by such facilities.  The fixed prices are adjusted annually for changes in the 
Consumer Price Index (“CPI”).  TransAlta is required to only purchase power that is actually produced. Each TransAlta PPA 
has a term of 20 years or end of asset life, where end of asset life is less than 20 years. 
 
II. Management, Administrative, and Operational Services Agreement (“Management Agreement”) 
Under the Management Agreement, TransAlta provides all the general administrative services, including key management 
personnel services, as may be required or advisable for the management of the affairs of the Corporation.  As compensation 
for the services provided, the Corporation pays TransAlta a fee (the “G&A Reimbursement Fee”), adjusted annually for 
changes in the CPI. The G&A Reimbursement Fee is increased or decreased by an amount equal to five per cent of the amount 
of any increase or decrease, respectively, to the Corporation’s total Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, and 
Amortization resulting from the addition or divestiture of assets by the Corporation.  
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TransAlta also provides operational and maintenance services under the Management Agreement, which generally includes 
all services as may be necessary or requested for the operation and maintenance of the Corporation’s wind and hydro 
facilities. TransAlta is reimbursed for all out-of-pocket and third-party fees and costs, including salaries, wages, and benefits 
associated with managing and operating the facilities not captured by the G&A Reimbursement Fee. 
 
The Management Agreement has an initial 20-year term, which is automatically renewed for further successive terms of five 
years after the expiry of the initial term or any renewal term, unless terminated by either party. On Jan. 6, 2016, the G&A 
Reimbursement Fee was revised to approximately $15.2 million in 2016, which reflects the impact of CPI adjustments and the 
acquisition of the economic interest in the Wyoming wind farm, the Australian Assets, and the Canadian Assets. 
 
B.  Related-Party Balances 
Related-party balances include the investments in subsidiaries of TransAlta disclosed in Note 8, the risk management assets 
and liabilities disclosed in Note 12; the Amortizing Term Loan, Wyoming Wind Acquisition Loan, and the credit facility 
disclosed in Note 15; the Class B shares liability disclosed in Note 18; and guarantees provided by the Corporation on behalf of 
TransAlta and TEA disclosed in Note 23. 
 
Significant related-party balances with TransAlta or subsidiaries of TransAlta that are not otherwise presented elsewhere 
consist of the following: 
 
As at Dec. 31 2015 2014
Accounts receivable 30,160                          7,136                                 
Trade accounts payable 4,001                            3,142                                 
Interest payable -                                     2,795                                 
Dividends payable 16,573                           10,345                               
Letters of credit issued by TransAlta on behalf of the Corporation (I) 31,095                          4,503                                
Guarantees provided by TransAlta on behalf of the Corporation (II) 226,000                       226,500                           

 
I. Letters of Credit 
TransAlta has provided letters of credit on behalf of the Corporation.  Any amounts owed by the Corporation for obligations 
under the contracts to which the letters of credit pertain are reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.    
All letters of credit expire within one year and are expected to be renewed, as needed, in the normal course of business.  No 
amounts have been exercised by third parties under these arrangements.   
 
II. Guarantees 
Two guarantees totalling $206.0 million relate to the New Richmond wind facility.  If the Corporation does not perform under 
the related agreements, the counterparty may present claim for payment from TransAlta.   
 
C. Key Management Personnel Services 
The Corporation’s key management personnel include the members of its Board and its Corporate Officers. Key management 
personnel services from Corporate Officers are provided through TransAlta and its subsidiaries and are part of the G&A 
Reimbursement Fee. Amounts incurred directly by the Corporation are as follows: 

Year ended Dec. 31 2015 2014
Total compensation 552 350

Comprised of:
  Short-term employee benefits 396 127
  Share-based payments 156 223
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25.  Significant Customers 
 
In addition to revenue from TransAlta under the TransAlta PPAs (see Note 24), which represented 15 per cent of total 
revenues, revenues from two other customers each exceeded 10 per cent of the Corporation’s total revenues, and represented 
39 per cent and 14 per cent of total revenues, respectively. 
 
26.  Subsequent Event 
 
On Jan. 6, 2016, the Corporation announced the closing of the transaction which results in the investment in the Canadian 
Assets for a combined value of $540 million (see Note 4). 
 
As consideration, the Corporation provided to TransAlta $172.5 million in cash, issued 15,640,583 common shares with a 
value of $152.5 million, and issued a $215 million in convertible unsecured subordinated debenture. The debenture issued by 
the Corporation to TransAlta on an interest-only basis at a coupon of 4.5 per cent per annum payable semi-annually in arrears 
on June 30th and Dec. 31st will mature on Dec. 31, 2028. On the maturity date, TransAlta will have the right, at its sole option, 
to convert the outstanding principal amount of the debenture, in whole or in part, into common shares of the Corporation at a 
conversion price of $13.16 per common share, being a 35 per cent premium to the offering price on the closing date of the 
investment in the Canadian Assets. The debenture is a direct unsecured obligation of the Corporation ranking subordinate to 
all liabilities, except liabilities which by their terms rank in rights of payment equally with or subordinate to the debenture. The 
debenture ranks equal with all subordinate debenture issued by the Corporation from time to time. 
 
The Corporation funded the cash proceeds through the issuance of 17,692,750 subscription receipts at a price of $9.75 per 
subscription receipt.  Upon the closing of the transaction, each holder of subscription receipts received one common share of 
the Corporation and a cash dividend equivalent payment of $0.07 for each subscription receipt held. As a result, the 
Corporation issued 17,692,750 common shares and paid a total dividend equivalent of $1.2 million. 
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